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Management Report and Group Management Report of TELES AG 

Informationstechnologien 

TELES and the Market 

2017 clearly proved to be the cloud communications year. Following many discus-

sions about this over the last few years, numerous undertakings did also actually 

make the switchover to cloud telephony in 2017. For the end costumers, the benefits 

of this are evident: 

 The communications service can be used and is available everywhere and at 

all times 

 On-location, cost-efficient installation and administration without hardware 

 Complete support for the "mobile workforce" 

 

In today's rapidly transforming, globalized world of work, these advantages benefit 

those especially within companies who require flexible and efficient communications 

using the classic in-house telephone systems. 

 

For the communications sector itself, however, this also means that it has to offer its 

services such that they satisfy these requirements, and classic communications are 

now insufficient to do so. Thus, a purely landline service or a purely mobile service 

are not enough. Yet utilizing both of these services independently within a company 

is complicated and complex. For which reason, the service providers have to consider 

how they can provide a complete offer package over the mid-term in order to remain 

competitive. And this trend can be clearly observed on the market: A consolidation of 

the providers has occurred here specifically over the last few years. With such con-

solidations also happening within the TELES customer environment in 2017. In Aus-

tria alone, the second largest landline operator Tele2 was assumed by the mobile 

operator "3" and the largest cable provider UPC was acquired by T-Mobile Austria. 

This already occurred in the years prior to this in Germany with the Vodafone-Kabel 

Deutschland acquisition and the purchase of Versatel and Drillisch AG by 1&1. These 

consolidations provide opportunities for the TELES cloud services in several respects: 

- On the one hand, existing customers that merge become bigger and the op-

portunity for more growth arises through this. 
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- On the other hand, full service providers that combine all the networks are re-

sulting from this situation. And for these customers, our solution provides the 

perfect addition to their services as we are able to integrate across the net-

works.  

 

Likewise on the manufacturing side, takeovers again occurred in 2017. Some promi-

nent examples of these certainly include the acquisition of the company Broadsoft 

(USA) by Cisco (USA) and the purchase of Shoretel (USA) by Mitel (Canada). Of 

course, the takeovers have caused uncertainty among the customers of these manu-

facturers as it is still completely unclear if and how the solutions being utilized will be 

further developed. However, this fact does offer us the opportunity in our core Euro-

pean market especially to further establish ourselves as a European manufacturer. 

 

We intend to closely monitor the consolidations among the service providers and the 

manufacturers in 2018. Initial discussions with the customers concerned were al-

ready conducted at the end of 2017 and proved to be highly promising. 

 

The powerful expansion we achieved in the sales of licenses in 2017 provided con-

firmation of the clear trend for cloud-based unified communications services at our 

customers. By way of example, the growth by our Austrian reference customer T-

Mobile with the first "all-in communication" solution that utilizes TELES technology to 

smoothly merge their landline, mobile and UC services from the most diverse tech-

nologies certainly deserves to be highlighted in this regard.  

 

With our established customers, we are also expecting corresponding growth once 

more in 2018. 

 

The strategic investments in our sales operations in the Middle Eastern and African 

regions in 2016 began to bear fruit in 2017. 

 

Thanks to the intensified sales activities conducted in the Middle East, supported by 

accompanying marketing measures, such as regional roadshows for carrier and ser-

vice provider customers, it proved possible to gain important reference customers 

from the region last year. For instance, the largest internet service provider in Ku-

wait, which primarily focuses on government and business customers, decided to opt 
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for a TELES solution. We will implement the transformation of its network, which is 

mainly based on TDM, to the latest all-IP technology together with the customer in 

the first half of 2018. In addition to the state-of-the-art technology utilized in the 

system and the many years of experience we have in transforming networks, the 

TELES solution has been able to score further points with the customer thanks to the 

additional services provided, such as e.g. "hosted unified communications/cloud UC", 

as well as the option to utilize it as a central service platform in the customer's inter-

national corporate group environment. 

 

In Africa, too, the sales activities were advanced in 2017. In addition to strengthen-

ing our brand awareness by participating in events and shows, it proved possible, 

through close cooperative work with local system integration partners, to specifically 

develop highly promising business opportunities in the service provider and carrier 

environment and establish the basis for the potential conclusion of projects in 2018. 

 

The focal development of the TELES solutions in 2016 with respect to their being 

"simple to provide and integrate optimally" was consistently further advanced. With 

specific attention being accorded here to the frictionless provision of the increasingly 

important applications for smart phones. Only when these really do also guarantee 

reachability everywhere and at all times, will they be accepted by the end customers 

and thus achieve sustained growth in their average revenue per user (ARPU). Follow-

ing the completion in the development of these products in 2017, we now offer our 

customers a well-considered complete solution, as an "off-the-shelf experience", for 

the otherwise so complex interaction of the Google and Apple services. 

  

The partnership with one of the global market leaders in voice-recording solutions 

and the installation of the related standardized recording interface in the voice appli-

cation server are facilitating the development of new end customer segments for our 

customers. In this way, the hosted unified communication services provided by the 

TELES platform also represent a genuine alternative for customers from the financial 

services sector as they now fulfil the regulatory requirements for the industry. 
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Reference customers: 

 

ASC Reference  

"We only needed six months to be able to develop a solution for the market together 

with TELES that satisfied our customers' individual needs, as well as their legal re-

quirements, and that to the full extent. Which was exactly how we imagined working 

together optimally with a reliable technology partner." 

 

Dr. Gerald Kromer, CEO 

ASC Technologies AG 

 

For a long time now, mobile working has not been the exception anymore and even 

financial service providers are conducting increasing numbers of calls on mobile 

phones. Since January 2018, the EU's Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II 

(MiFID II) has stipulated that all advisor and consultant calls and discussions – 

whether via a landline or mobile – have to be securely recorded and archived for 

proof purposes. Which is why TELES has now developed a solution with its partner 

ASC, with which a legally secure recording of all desired calls occurs.  

 

ASC is a leading provider worldwide for the recording and analysis of corporate 

communications. The target groups include all undertakings that record their com-

munications, and especially contact centers and financial service providers, as well as 

public safety organizations. The company has its headquarters in Germany, with sub-

sidiaries in Great Britain, France, Switzerland, the USA, Brazil, Japan, Singapore, 

Hong Kong and Dubai. 

 

With the cloud-based recording solution from TELES and ASC, business customers 

and network operators are able to utilize a secure, future-proof solution and fulfil 

their legal requirements, in addition to gaining from the advantage that it can be in-

tegrated into the infrastructure already available. 

 

Zajil Reference 

"As one of the largest providers of telecommunication solutions in the region, our 

customers expect the most modern and secure solutions from us able to satisfy their 

future requirements. And with TELES, we've found a partner that is capable of sup-

plying us with such solutions, in addition to our profiting from its know-how in similar 
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projects. So we're delighted to expand our partnership further with TELES by in-

stalling the TELES softswitch, which will put us in a position of being able to offer our 

customers even more excellent services." 

 

Khalifa Alsoulah 

Managing Director & CEO 

 

Zajil, a service provider from Kuwait, is one of the top players in the region in the 

field of telecommunications. The company, which was founded in 1991 in Kuwait, 

reacted in good time to the changes in the telecommunication market and invested 

in the latest cutting-edge technology – permitting Zajil to become one of the leading 

providers of cloud services in the region today. Already in 2015, Zajil installed the 

TELES voice application server and is now in a position to offer its customers cloud 

and managed services.  

 

Thanks to the excellent cooperation already achieved by TELES and Zajil in their pro-

jects to date, the next logical step has been for Zajil to switch from its current inter-

connect solution to the TELES solution. A further benefit for Zajil is that it can con-

tinue to use its current gateways: Ensuring that the required investment is kept to an 

absolute minimum, while the changeover to the TELES softswitch can be completed 

at very short notice and without any major outlays.  

 

With the installation of the TELES voice application server and the TELES softswitch, 

Zajil has endorsed the all-IP solution from TELES – meaning that: It has the latest 

technology, operational reliability and a partner at its side, as well as services capa-

ble of satisfying future demands. All benefits that Zajil can pass on to its customers, 

permitting it to maintain its position as a leading provider of telecommunication solu-

tions in the region.  

Control System 

The operating business of the company is mainly controlled by the most important 

financial performance indicators, sales and EBIT, as well as by the other measures: 

contribution margin, costs and receipt of order. In addition, the controller also con-

siders a number of non-financial metrics. The EBIT represents the operating result 

before taxes and financial result. It is thus a central factor of the internal control and 

also a good indicator of the operating cash flow of the company. 
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Economic Position of TELES Group 

TELES Group (in accordance with IFRS) 

As of 31 December, in K€ (thousand euros) 

 
2016 2017 Change 

Sales revenue 6,511 7,062 8% 

Gross profit 4,343 4,650 7% 

EBIT -581 3 -101% 

 

The company's economic position enjoyed positive development in 2017. Growth of 

8% in the sales revenue was recorded, while the result improved by 101%. Howev-

er, the forecasts we envisaged in the previous year with respect to the 2017 financial 

year (sales revenue increase of between 18 and 28% and a positive result (EBIT)) 

were not achieved. One cause of this was the extremely weak third quarter in 2017. 

In the other three quarters, the business development was clearly better compared 

to the previous year.  

 

Our software-based UC solutions proved to be the driver of growth in 2017. With T-

Mobile Austria being our most prominent customer here yet again with the greatest 

growth. Likewise, ecotel communication or Telecom Liechtenstein also expanded 

their TELES solutions. Another noteworthy achievement was the gaining of a leading 

IT service provider in North Germany for the utilization of cloud-based UC solutions. 

In addition to the German-language market, growth was also achieved in Europe and 

the Middle East. In Turkey, the planned TELES Mobile Centrex was sold and deliv-

ered to the customer Istelia Telecom. In Dubai, we were able to gain our first system 

integration partner for UC solutions in the Middle East. And in Kuwait, a further in-

ternet service provider has opted for TELES.  

 

With it accounting for approximately €3 million of turnover in 2017, the service and 

maintenance business with our customers is and remains highly important for TELES.  
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Sales Revenue 

 

At € 7.1 million, the sales revenue increased by 8% in the year under report. The 

first, second and especially the last quarter proved to be stronger compared to the 

same periods in the previous year. In the third quarter, a 35% reduction in sales to € 

1.0 million occurred due to delays in customer projects. 

 

Costs 

 

Thanks to conscientious cost management efforts, it proved possible to reduce the 

administration costs by 10% to € 1.3 million. The research and development outlays 

increased by 8% to € 2.6 million. The sales and marketing expenses remained al-

most unchanged at € 1.3 million. 

 

Result 

 

The operating result (EBIT) at the end of the year amounted to K€ 3 (previous year: 

minus € 0.6 million). It proved possible to achieve a positive EBIT of € 0.6 million in 

the last quarter of the year. 

 

In the reporting period, a positive result before income tax of € 0.6 million (previous 

year: € 3.1 million) occurred due to the financial income following the subsequent 

measurement of the debtor warranty at an amount of K€ 965 (previous year: € 4.0 

million). 

 

Overall, an annual net profit of € 0.6 million (previous year: annual net profit of € 3.1 

million) was reported in the consolidated financial statements of TELES AG. 

 

Equity and Liabilities 

 

The balance sheet total of the TELES Group increased by € 0.8 million compared to 

the previous year. Thanks to the financial income, the losses carried forward (reve-

nue reserves) decreased to € 44.5 million. The total liabilities were lower at K€ 965, 

due especially to the subsequent measurement of the debtor warranty. 
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Liquidity and Net Assets 

 

The company's liquidity continues to remain very tight: The loan granted by a close 

family member of a person in a key position in 2017 an amount of € 0.3 million to 

finance the operative business was completely used up in 2017. Furthermore, a loan 

at an amount of € 0.1 million was granted by a person who holds a key position in 

the undertaking. Together with a loan from the Austrian Research Promotion Agency 

(FFG) at an amount of € 0.3 million, cash flow from financing activities at an amount 

of € 0.7 million resulted. 

 

The cash flow from operating activities improved, but was still negative at € -0.6 mil-

lion (previous year: € -1.3 million). 

 

The assets of the TELES Group at year-end primarily consisted of trade receivables at 

an amount of € 1.5 million (previous year: € 0.8 million) and other assets at an 

amount of € 0.2 million (previous year: € 0.2 million), as well as cash and cash 

equivalents at an amount of € 0.3 million (previous year: € 0.2 million). The strong 

increase in assets is due to the good performance in the fourth quarter of 2017. 

For further detailed information, please see the "Financing/Going Concern" section. 

Economic Situation of TELES AG 

The following explanations on the net assets, financial position and results of opera-

tions relate to the annual financial statements of TELES AG. In addition, reference is 

made to the explanations on the economic situation of the TELES Group. 

 

An annual net loss of € 2.0 million (previous year: annual net loss of € 1.5 million) 

was reported in the annual financial statements of TELES AG. This includes an un-

scheduled write-down at an amount of € 1.2 million on the measurement of the 

shareholding in TELES Communication Systems GmbH, Vienna, Austria. 

 

The balance sheet total of TELES AG increased by € 2.8 million compared to the pre-

vious year due to higher liabilities. The total liabilities increased in particular due to 

liabilities to affiliated companies (plus € 2.1 million) and other liabilities (plus € 0.5 

million). 
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Due to the net loss for the year of € 2.0 million, the deficit not covered by equity in-

creased to € 7.3 million (previous year: € 5.3 million) in the annual financial state-

ments of TELES AG. 

Human Resources 

Annual average, TELES AG accounted for 58 employees at its business locations in 

Berlin and Vienna (previous year: 59). Thus, the number of staff employed de-

creased slightly over the year. The fluctuation in staff continues to remain low. 

 

Furthermore in the financial year now ended, we invested specifically in the training 

of young employees: In addition to the 58 members of its workforce, TELES employs 

numerous staff completing their university education or professional training: In the 

context of a dual study program in cooperation with Berlin School of Economics and 

Law (HWR), two students were employed at our headquarters on the balance sheet 

reporting date of 31 December 2017. In addition, TELES AG is training one employee 

to become an information technology officer. 

Research and Development 

In the field of research and development, TELES focuses on the rapid developing and 

launching of new marketable products, the continuous optimizing of the development 

processes, as well as on reducing the costs for the development and manufacture of 

high-quality new and reliable products. In the 2017 financial year, the research and 

development outlays were reflected especially in the development project for an in-

tegrated cloud communication system, as well as in the further development of the 

softswitch for mobile network operators and virtual mobile network operators. 

Report on Opportunities and Risks 

The telecommunications market is being subjected to massive pressure by a whole 

range of factors, impacts and new providers. The landscape of network operators 

and service providers that has developed over decades is being churned up powerful-

ly. The growing demand for bandwidth, the increasing mobility of the working world, 

the emergence of so-called OTT (over-the-top content) providers, or even the merg-

ing of communication channels that have been separate to date require high invest-

ments coupled with decreasing sales revenue and earnings at the same time. 
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For TELES, this means new opportunities for its sales and results – especially in the 

field of unified communications (UC), with the merging of communication media, 

such as fixed line and mobile telephony, faxes and email, into a uniform application 

environment. Network operators that focus their efforts on such convenience ser-

vices manage to differentiate themselves from the competition and succeed on the 

market with, for instance, an improved reachability of subscribers – such as of tele-

workers for example. 

 

Risk Report 

 

Business activities are fundamentally exposed to risks as well. For instance, geopoliti-

cal and geostrategic conflicts can also have a sensitive dampening impact on the 

demand in regions that are not directly involved in them. The events on the financial 

markets and the non-balanced state budgets especially in several European countries 

as well are depressing economic activity and also having a negative impact on the 

economic development of the company, while new providers are capable of threaten-

ing the competitive position of TELES. When considering the risks, we differentiate 

between business environment, product, service and technology risks, human re-

sources, regulatory, currency, financial, interest rate and IT risks, as well as other 

risks. TELES AG does not see any acute risk situation at present. However, the Man-

agement Board cannot exclude deteriorations in the macroeconomic environment, for 

instance, which would also burden the sales and earnings position of the company. 

They can additionally aggravate the risk situation and reduce opportunities as the 

case may be. 

 

Business Environment Risks 

 

For TELES AG, business environment risks result from economic conditions and fluctua-

tions in demand, as well as from price changes and from the dependence on suppliers 

and contract manufacturers. The uncertainties in the eurozone, as indeed the precarious 

political and economic situation in the Mediterranean regions of Europe, can significantly 

weaken the demand in several of TELES' domestic European markets. Activities in the 

other markets beyond the core DACH and European markets do limit the impacts on the 

result of demand shortfalls, however they are not able to completely mitigate the risks. 

In this way, reliable forecasts for the further development of TELES AG are impeded. 
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The competition in several markets is aggravating the ability of small and mid-sized 

providers in particular, such as TELES, to absorb the pressure on prices especially on 

the part of the network operators. 

 

TELES mitigates this development with unique services that limit the switching to 

competitors. For instance, it is not always possible to pass on prices increases on 

upstream products to customers, which occasionally weakens the competitive posi-

tion. We mitigate procurement risks by utilizing coordinated purchasing, by agreeing 

long-term supply contracts, by having tight cooperation with suppliers and by contin-

uous improvements in the procurement management. Yet for that, it cannot be guar-

anteed that no supply difficulties will arise in the future, that the processing of projects 

does not get delayed and that the business development becomes significantly impacted 

by this.  

 

Furthermore in order to safeguard its development and production, TELES avails of 

competing suppliers in the procurement markets. In several areas, however, it is in fact 

barely feasible to actually obtain the same quality products from alternative suppliers. 

This entails heightened purchasing, price and marketing risks, among others. 

 

Product, Service and Technology Risks 

 

Product, service and technology risks rank among the most significant risks to which 

TELES is exposed. Product risks are caused by the delayed development, acceptance 

and/or delivery of products, as well as by product faults. Regardless of the fact that the 

market is saturated, the telecommunications industry is characterized by short innova-

tion cycles for services, which permit the network operators to tap into and develop new 

customers. This calls for a powerful commitment on the part of TELES with regard to 

observing and analyzing the market, as well as in its development. Our earnings position 

is fundamentally dependent on our ability to adjust to changing markets and their re-

quirements, to develop and launch new marketable products at a quick pace, to consist-

ently optimize our development processes and to decrease the costs of developing and 

producing new products of higher quality and reliability.  

 

Likewise, the on-schedule completion of agreed installations and other services at the 

contractual quality level represent essential success factors for TELES. This is com-

pounded by the fact that service level agreements with our customers represent a sig-
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nificant share of our sales, and their non-fulfillment or inadequate servicing can result in 

immediate damage from claims for compensation, follow-up improvements or the loss of 

sales. For this reason, the service quality is permanently evaluated in a timely manner 

and improved where necessary. We actively mitigate risks resulting from product defi-

ciencies and liability risks by means of careful development and reliable quality controls. 

 

Moreover, the sales revenues and results can be negatively impacted by investments 

in those technologies that do not prove to be viable and marketable, and which are 

not introduced in a timely manner. 

 

Personnel Risks 

 

As it the case with every other highly specialized knowledge and development inten-

sive company, TELES is exposed to unique personnel risks resulting from the depar-

ture of employees. The employees' know-how in many functional areas represents 

capital for TELES. The risk consists of the fact that with the departure of employees, 

corresponding knowledge and experience can also be lost, and processes come to a 

halt as a result. For this reason, the company focuses especially on the long-term 

loyalty of the staff to the company, in order to keep the fluctuation low. Moreover, 

TELES recruits committed young staff through its cooperative activities with universi-

ties in the context of dual study courses. 

 

Regulatory Risks  

 

The telecommunications sector continues to be statutorily regulated in many countries 

with relevant markets. In individual cases, official regulations or amendments to such 

regulations can significantly increase the operative costs and/or impacts on our sales 

revenue. Furthermore, amendments to tax laws and regulations could lead to higher tax 

outlays and/or impact on the deferred tax assets and liabilities.  

 

Currency Risks 

 

Because TELES gains part of its sales revenue and procures some materials outside 

the European Monetary Union, the impacts of currency fluctuations on our results 

cannot be excluded in situations where cash flows occur in a different currency to 

the euro. The risk is reduced by settling business transactions in the functional cur-
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rency wherever possible. In those cases which are not invoiced and settled in the 

functional currency, TELES reserves the right to utilize hedging instruments.  

 

Financial and Interest Rate Risks 

 

Payment delays and defaults, as the case may be, have problematic impacts on the 

already tight liquidity of TELES AG. Yet for that, TELES AG is not directly dependent 

on any individual customers. The company generated a volume amounting to 9% 

(previous year: 6%) of its total sales with its largest single customer in the 2017 fi-

nancial year.  

 

Fundamentally, TELES assesses customers and projects in advance and reduces fi-

nancial risks by means of regularly agreeing to advance payments and with the help 

of payment-securing instruments as required. 

 

Changes to the measurement of the debtor warranty can lead to changes in the li-

quidity risk. Positive results in the future would lead to a reactivation of the debtor 

warranty and thus cause liquidity outflows. This could hinder investments and profit 

distributions. 

 

The interest rate risk for the TELES undertaking results exclusively from interest-

bearing investments and from the need to continue financing at high interest rates, 

which could significantly impact the liquidity of the company. 

 

Within the next financial year, no outflow of cash from the debtor warrant is ex-

pected. A payment is currently expected from 2022 at the earliest. 
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IT Risks 

 

The development and quality assurance of products, as indeed all the other process-

es at TELES AG, are highly dependent on IT hardware, software and systems, includ-

ing their availability and reliability. Likewise, data are exposed to external risks result-

ing from infiltration, malware, unauthorized access to telecommunications networks 

and servers, as well as pirated copies. We mitigate these risks through continuous 

improvements in the security of our systems, as well as through redundant hardware 

and restrictions on access. 

Financing/Going Concern  

The liquidity of the company remains tight: The financing of TELES continues to be 

secured primarily via related persons by extending loans granted to date and defer-

ring the interest that arises on same, as well as through the granting of new loans. 

The loan granted in 2017 by a close family member of a person in a key position an 

amount of € 0.3 million to finance the operative business was completely used up in 

2017. The loan commitment for € 0.7 million provided by the majority shareholder in 

May 2017 has not been utilized. In three of the four quarters in 2017, the company 

achieved clear increases in the business development compared to the previous year. 

However, the third quarter was unsatisfactory and the liquidity situation was corre-

spondingly tense. In order to close any further financing gaps, it has been possible to 

obtain a further loan commitment of 0.25 million euros from the majority shareholder 

in March 2018. In addition, in March / April 2018, loans to related parties (3.4 million 

euros nominal) were deferred until 31 December 2019. The Management Board con-

siders that the available and contractually secured funds (EUR 0.9 million) are suffi-

cient to cover the anticipated funding needs until at least mid-2019.The Management 

Board considers the financial resources that are available and contractually secured 

to be adequate so as to cover the anticipated financial requirements up to at least 

mid-2019. 

 

TELES is concentrating on the growth area of software-based solutions for network 

operators. By focusing on the so-called tier 1 carriers – the former national telecom-

munications monopolists and their larger competitors where appropriate – as well as 

on niche markets for gateways and on modern UC solutions, changes have also oc-

curred in the sales cycles: Projects that were clear and manageable in terms of their 
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complexity and decision-making are being replaced with disproportionately larger 

ones, which involve longer tendering and decision-making processes, and the imple-

mentation of which requires significantly more time.  

 

We are completely aware that projects with longer processing times can also entail 

financing shortfalls, and we regard this as a challenge. However, it is a necessary 

accompanying factor in achieving the jump to becoming a solutions provider capable 

of engaging successfully with internationally operating carriers. The future of TELES 

depends to a very fundamental extent on how quickly it succeeds in establishing 

business relations with these multinational carriers in the future as well and imple-

menting clearly more challenging and demanding projects at amounts in the mid to 

high single-digit millions of euros. 

 

The business planning naturally includes risks and uncertainties. It is based on cur-

rent assumptions, expectations, estimates and projections of TELES, which were tak-

en into account to the best of the knowledge and belief of those responsible, having 

regard to commercial principles. To that extent, planning deviations cannot be ex-

cluded.  

 

The continued existence of the company is dependent on the planned sales revenues 

for the coming months not falling below the budgeted levels over a sustained period 

and on the outstanding funds from loan commitments at an amount of € 0.7 million 

being sufficient or increased if necessary.  
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Overall statement on the risk situation of the Group 

 

The Executive Board of TELES AG sees the main risk of the TELES Group in the 

liquidity and, consequently, the continued existence of the company or the group of 

companies. Compared to the previous year, there were no material changes in the 

overall risk situation or the listed individual risks. 

Forecast  

The basis for our assessments for 2018 consists of having stabile macroeconomic 

conditions and the expectation that the recognizable boost in the demand for mod-

ern telecommunications solutions, such as unified communications, continues. The 

development outlined here is subject to opportunities and risks that are presented in 

the Report on Opportunities and Risks. 

 

2018 is going to be a challenging year: In order to increase the visibility of TELES 

and expand its presence on the market, we will boost our sales personnel, intensify 

our sales partnerships and consistently expand our marketing. At the same time, we 

are aware that the sales and marketing activities can only flourish and visibly bear 

fruit over the long-term – and to that extent, we will only observe success in the 

sales and in the result progressively. 

 

There continues to be a growing demand for high-performance and high-capacity IP 

Centrex and unified communications solutions (UC solutions) and that in the DACH 

core market especially. UC solutions represent one of the most important themes for 

the industry in numerous studies, specialist conferences and trade shows. From to-

day's perspective, the favorable economic prospects should provide a further in-

crease in the demand for UC solutions in the DACH core market in 2018. And we are 

also expecting that in the other European markets, UC solutions will progressively 

become accepted by carriers in order for them to be able to defend or expand their 

market shares with new services. In the new financial year, we will intensify the con-

tacts with the so-called tier 1 carriers, the former monopolists, and increase our ef-

forts to promote successfully concluded projects, in order to arouse market interest.  

 

In view of the growing investments in personnel and other areas, we are expecting 

growth in the sales revenue of the company of between 5 and 11% overall and a 

positive result (EBIT) in 2018, compared to the previous year. 
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Supplementary Report 

Key Figures of the TELES Group in Accordance with IFRS 

TELES Group 

(in k€) 

01.01.2016 - 

31.12.2016 

01.01.2017 - 

31.12.2017 

Change 

Sales revenues 6.511 7.062 8% 

Gross profit 4.343 4.650 7% 

Operating result/EBIT -581 3 101% 

Financial income 3.727 535 -86% 

EBT from continuing operations 3.146 538 -83% 

Taxes on income 13 17 31% 

Net earnings 3.133 521 -83% 

Key Figures of TELES AG in Accordance with the German Commercial 

Code (HGB) 

TELES AG 

(in kEuro) 

01.01.2016 - 

31.12.2016 

01.01.2017 - 

31.12.2017 

Change 

Sales revenues 6.513 7.062 8% 

Operating result/EBIT -583 -434 26% 

Financial income -893 -1.546 -73% 

EBITDA  -1.476 -1.980 -34% 

Taxes on income -1 0  100% 

Net loss -1.479 -1.982 -34% 
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Internal Control System 

Pursuant to Sec. 289 Para. 5 and Sec. 315 Para. 2 No. 5 German Commercial Code 

(HGB), TELES AG is obligated to describe in the (consolidated) management report 

the fundamental features of the internal control and risk management system in rela-

tion to the (Group) accounting processes. The scope and structure of the accounting-

related internal control and risk management system, as well as its adjustment to 

specific requirements of TELES AG, are at the discretion and under the responsibility 

of the Management Board. Accordingly, the TELES Group has established "risk man-

agement" integrated into its business processes. Doing so, the subsidiaries are re-

sponsible for the scope, form and content of their respective risk management sys-

tems. The monitoring and coordination of the Group-wide risk management is the 

responsibility of Group management. The regular and systematic identification, quan-

tification and assessment of the respective relevant risks and security systems are 

part of the risk reporting to the Group management. In 2017, the assessment of 

risks has not yet been geared to the level and probability of occurrence of potential 

losses. These changes are planned for 2018. 

 

Description of the Internal Control System 

 

The accounting-related internal control system of TELES AG comprises all of the prin-

ciples, processes and measures to secure the effectiveness, efficiency and propriety 

of the accounting, as well as to secure the compliance with the relevant legal regula-

tions. 

 

Defined internal controls are embedded in the accounting processes based on risk 

aspects. The accounting-related internal control system comprises both preventive 

and detective controls, which include IT-supported and manual reconciliations, plau-

sibility tests, the separation of functions, the two sets of eyes principle, and general 

IT checks, such as for instance access authorization to IT systems. 

 

Within the scope of the organizational, controlling and monitoring structures defined 

in TELES AG, the internal control system supports the recording, preparation and 

assessment of company-related facts and circumstances, together with their proper 

and correct presentation in the consolidated financial accounts. 
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The controlling of the accounting processes is conducted by the Group accounting 

section. Laws, accounting standards and other announcements are continuously ana-

lyzed with regard to their relevance and impacts on the annual financial statements. 

The Group companies are responsible for ensuring the compliance with the proper 

and prompt processing of their accounting-related processes and systems and are 

supported in this by the Group accounting section. The accounting-related internal 

control system as described is enhanced by controls on corporate levels effected by 

the highest decision-making bodies. 

 

However, personal discretionary decisions, incorrect controls, criminal acts or other 

circumstances cannot, due to the nature of these matters, be excluded and then re-

sult in restricted effectiveness and reliability of the internal control system and the 

risk management system as applied. Thus the Group-wide application of the systems 

utilized can also not guarantee with absolute certainty the correct, complete and 

prompt recording of facts and circumstances in the consolidated financial accounts. 

 

The statements provided are related only to the subsidiaries included in the consoli-

dated financial statements of TELES AG, for which TELES AG is in a position to de-

termine either directly or indirectly their financial and monetary policy in order to 

benefit from the activities of these companies. 

Legal Disputes 

The company is a party to court proceedings and legal disputes which occur in cus-

tomary business transactions. The company fundamentally forms provisions for cor-

responding cases when the assertion of a claim is probable and an amount can be 

estimated.  

Remuneration Report 

This remuneration report has been prepared in accordance with the recommenda-

tions in the German Corporate Governance Code (DCGK) and includes disclosures 

required as per the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). It is a component of the summarized management re-

port. The remuneration report contains the principles for the remuneration system 

for the Management Board and the Supervisory Board and provides details of the 

amounts and the structure of the remuneration on an individual basis.  
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Remuneration of the Management Board 

 

The total remuneration of the Management Board of TELES AG – with the exception 

of the remuneration for the Co-Chairman of the Management Board Professor Dr.-

Ing. Sigram Schindler – consists of fixed and performance-related remuneration 

components. The fixed basic remuneration is paid out monthly in the form of a sala-

ry. The Management Board receives a monthly contribution to their health and nurs-

ing care insurance, as well as the provision of a company car together with the bene-

fit in kind related to this as fringe benefits. In addition, the Management Board re-

ceives annual variable remuneration determined on the basis of the extent to which 

the results-oriented targets specified together with the Supervisory Board at the start 

of a given financial year are achieved. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board can grant 

a discretionary bonus to the Management Board, the amount of which is oriented on 

the one hand to the overall success of the company and on the other hand to the 

members' personal success in business areas under their responsibility. 

 

The remuneration of the Co-Chairman of the Management Board Professor Dr.-Ing. 

Sigram Schindler continues to be limited to the provision of a company car and the 

benefit in kind related to this. The remuneration of the Management Board in the 

2015 and 2016 financial years consists of the following: 

Allowances granted 
(in k€) 

Prof Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler 

 Co-Chairman of the Management Board 

 2016 2017 2017 (min) 2017 (max) 

Fixed remuneration 0 0 0 0 

Fringe benefits 39 37 37 37 

Total 39 37 37 37 

One-year variable remu-
neration 

0 0 0 0 

Multi-annual variable re-
muneration 

0 0 0 0 

Total 39 37 37 37 

Pension costs 0 0 0 0 

Total remuneration 39 37 37 37 

 
*) The remuneration of Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler corresponds to the value of the benefit in kind for the provision of a 

company car 

  



 

Page 24 of 106 

Translation – the German version is authoritative 

   

 

 
 

 

© TELES AG Informationstechnologien 

Allowances granted 
 (in k€) 

Oliver Olbrich 

 Co-Chairman of the Management Board 

 2016 2017 2017 (min) 2017 (max) 

Fixed remuneration 250 250 250 250 

Fringe benefits 7 7 7 7 

Total 257 257 257 257 

One-year variable remu-
neration 

0 0 0 60 

Multi-annual variable re-
muneration 

0 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 0 100 

Pension costs 0 0 0 0 

Total remuneration 257 257 257 357 

 

Allowances granted 
 (in k€) 

Thomas Haydn 

 Management Board 

 2016 2017 2017 (min) 2017 (max) 

Fixed remuneration 90 180 180 180 

Fringe benefits 5 10 10 10 

Total 95 190 190 190 

One-year variable remu-
neration 

0 0 0 60 

Multi-annual variable re-
muneration 

0 0 0 0 

Total 0 0 0 60 

Pension costs 0 0 0 0 

Total remuneration 95 190 190 250 

 

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 

 

Likewise, the remuneration of the Supervisory Board fundamentally consists of fixed 

and performance-related components. In addition to the reimbursement of their ex-

penses, the members of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed annual representation 

allowance. Moreover, the members of the Supervisory Board receive performance-

related variable remuneration at an amount of 0.15% of a positive consolidated re-

sult. It is subject to an upper limit at the amount of the basic remuneration.  

 

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives two and a half times the basic and 

additional remuneration, while the Deputy Chairman receives one and a half times 

this amount. 
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The remuneration of the Supervisory Board in the 2016 financial year consists of the 

following: 

 

(in K€) 

 

2016 

 

2017 

Professor Dr. Walter Rust 37.5 37.5 

Professor Dr. h.c. Radu Popescu-Zeletin 22.5 20.0 

Professor Dr.-Ing. Dr.-Oec. Thomas Schildhauer 11.3 0 

Joachim Schwarzer 3.7 17.5 

 75.0 75.0 

Disclosures Pursuant to Sec. 289 Para. IV, Sec. 315 Para. IV German 

Commercial Code (HGB) 

Composition of the Subscribed Capital 

 

The fully paid-in share capital consists of 23,304,676 no par value bearer shares with 

a computed value of € 1.00 each. Each share entitles the bearer to one vote. There 

are no other classes of shares. 

 

Restrictions with Regard to Voting Rights or the Transfer of Shares 

 

The Management Board of the company is not aware of any restrictions which affect 

the voting rights or the transfer of shares.  

 

Direct or Indirect Shareholding in Capital which Exceeds 10% of the Voting Rights 

 

Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin, Germany, held 57.41% of the 

voting rights in TELES AG on the balance sheet reporting date. Sigram Schindler Be-

teiligungsgesellschaft mbH is held 100% by Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler, 

thereby granting him its voting rights pursuant to Sec. 22 Para. 1 Sentence 1 No. 1 

German Securities Trading Law (WpHG). Likewise, the voting rights of the Sigram 

Schindler Stiftung foundation (1.46%) are attributed to him. Together with his direct 

voting rights, Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler thus held a total of 58.93% of the 

voting rights in TELES AG Informationstechnologien on the balance sheet reporting 

date. 
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Otherwise the company is not aware of any further direct or indirect shareholdings in 

the capital which exceed 10% of the voting rights. 

 

Shares Vested with Special Rights; Controlling Powers 

 

There are no shares vested with special rights which grant controlling powers. 

 

Voting Rights Control 

 

Any voting rights control in the meaning of Sec. 315 Para. 4 No. 5 German Commer-

cial Code (HGB) does not occur. 

 

Regulations for the Appointment and Dismissal of Members of the Management 

Board and on Amendments to the Articles of Incorporation 

 

In accordance with Sec. 6 of the articles of incorporation, the Management Board 

consists of at least two members. The determination of the number in the context of 

the above-mentioned regulation, as well as the appointment and revocation of an 

appointment, are undertaken by the Supervisory Board, as is the appointment of a 

member of the Management Board to Chairman of the Management Board. Other-

wise, the appointment and dismissal of members of the Management Board is effect-

ed in accordance with Sec. 84, Sec. 85 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG). 

 

Any amendments to the articles of incorporation are effected in accordance with Sec. 

179, Sec. 133 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), whereby pursuant to Sec. 14 of 

the articles of incorporation, the Supervisory Board is entitled to decide on amend-

ments to the articles of incorporation which only concern their wording.  
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Powers of the Management Board Regarding the Option to Issue or Redeem 

Shares 

 

Authorized Capital  

 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on August 8, 2017, the Management 

Board is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to redeem the share 

capital up to December 31, 2021, once or several times up to a total of EUR 

11,652,338.00 against cash and / or non-cash contributions by issuing bis to increase 

11,652,338 new no-par-value bearer shares (Authorized Capital 2017 / I).By resolu-

tion of the Annual General Meeting on August 8, 2017, the authorized capital of Oc-

tober 14, 2015 was canceled (Authorized Capital 2015 / I). 

 

Material Agreements of the Company Conditional on a Change in Control as a Re-

sult of a Takeover Bid 

 

There are no such agreements. 

 

Company Compensation Agreements Concluded with Members of the Manage-

ment Board or Employees in the Event of a Takeover Bid 

 

There are no such agreements. 

Concluding Statement on the Dependency Report 

Pursuant to Sec. 312 Para 3 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), the Management 

Board hereby states that in 2017 no legal transactions or other measures requiring 

reporting were recorded between the company and the controlling entity or a third 

party which the company undertook or did not undertake at the behest of or in the 

interest of the controlling entity or an associate of same. 

 

Furthermore, the Management Board hereby states that the company received ap-

propriate consideration for the legal transactions specified in the report on relation-

ships with associates in accordance with the circumstances known at the respective 

time. In the 2017 financial year, no other measures requiring reporting were under-
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taken in the interest of or at the behest of the controlling entity which led to disad-

vantages on the part of the company. 

Statement on Company Management   

Management and Corporate Structure 

 

The corporate management of TELES AG as a German stock corporation listed on the 

stock exchange is defined by the requirements of the German Stock Corporation Law 

(AktG) and the German Corporate Governance Code in its currently applicable ver-

sion, as well as by the regulations in the articles of incorporation. Corresponding to 

its legal form, TELES AG has a two-tier management structure with its Management 

Board and Supervisory Board managerial bodies, which is characterized by strict per-

sonnel separation between said management and supervisory bodies. The third 

managerial body consists of the General Meeting of Shareholders, at which the 

shareholders exercise their rights. All three bodies are obliged to ensure the well-

being of the company. 

  

The Supervisory Board elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders consists of 

three members in accordance with the articles of incorporation. The period of office 

for the Supervisory Board is normally five years. On August 8, 2017, the term of of-

fice of Prof. Dr. Ing. Walter Rust and Prof. dr. Popescu-Zeletin ended. With effect 

from 08.09.2017 Prof. Dr. med. Walter Rust and Prof. dr. Popescu Zeletin has been 

appointed to the Supervisory Board by resolution of the district court of 

Charlottenburg. The Supervisory Board monitors and consults with the Management 

Board on the management of the business activities. The Supervisory Board discuss-

es the business development, as well as the planning and strategy and their execu-

tion at regular intervals. With the Management Board, it discusses the quarterly and 

half-yearly reports prior to their publication and approves the annual planning, as 

well as the individual and consolidated financial statements. It takes into considera-

tion the audit reports of the statutory auditor doing so. The Supervisory Board's 

scope of tasks also includes the appointment of Management Board members, as 

well as the setting of the Management Board remuneration and the regular assess-

ment of same. 
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The Management Board is the managerial body of the Group and currently consists 

of three persons. The Management Board manages the company under its own re-

sponsibility with the aim of creating sustainable added value. The principle of overall 

responsibility is applicable, i.e. the members of the Management Board bear joint 

responsibility for the entire business management irrespective of divisional responsi-

bility. In this respect, the Management Board is subject to the requirements in the 

internal rules of procedure approved by the Supervisory Board. These regulate in 

particular all matters reserved for the responsibility of the complete Management 

Board and also include a list of matters of fundamental importance which require 

approval from the Supervisory Board. The Management Board develops the corpo-

rate strategy and ensures its execution in coordination with the Supervisory Board. 

In addition, it is responsible for preparing the quarterly and annual financial state-

ments, as well as for appointing staff to key positions in the company. 

 

The General Meeting of Shareholders is the decision-making body on the part of our 

shareholders. The annual financial statements are submitted to our shareholders at 

the General Meeting of Shareholders. The shareholders decide on the appropriation 

of the balance sheet profit and also vote on other issues specified by law and the 

articles of incorporation. Each share entitles the bearer to one vote. Those share-

holders are entitled to participate in the General Meeting of Shareholders which are 

registered within the specified deadline and have been shareholders at the beginning 

of the 21st day prior to the General Meeting of Shareholders (record date). Our 

shareholders can also exercise their voting rights at the General Meeting of Share-

holders by means of an authorized third party or a voting representative (proxy hold-

er) provided by the company which is bound by their voting instructions. They can 

also exercise their voting rights by means of a postal vote.  
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Controlling/Management Systems 

 

The internal controlling/management systems support the management in monitor-

ing and controlling the Group and its business areas. The systems consist of plan-

ning, actual and forecast calculations and are based on the annually revised strategic 

planning of the Group. Doing so, consideration is given especially to market devel-

opments, technological developments and trends, together with their impact on the 

company's products and services, as well as on the financial options of the Group. 

  

The Group reporting system consists of monthly results calculations, as well as 

quarterly IFRS reports prepared for all consolidated subsidiaries, and presents the 

net assets, financial and earnings position of the Group, as well as the business 

areas. The financial reporting is supplemented with further detailed information 

required for the assessment and the control of the operative business.  

  

A further component of the control systems are quarterly reports containing details 

of the fundamental risks to the company. 

  

The reports named above are discussed at Management Board and Supervisory 

Board meetings and represent a fundamental basis for assessments and decisions. 

 

The operative business of the company is fundamentally controlled and managed via 

the sales revenue, gross earnings, EBITDA and EBIT parameters, as well as via a 

range of other important non-financial key figures. 

 

Women in Management Positions 

 

The Supervisory Board has pursuant to Sec. 111 Para. 5 German Stock Corporation 

Law (AktG) defined a target figure of "zero" up to 30.06.2021 for the increase in the 

share of women on the Management Board and Supervisory Board.  
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The Supervisory Board has pursuant to Sec. 76 Para. 4 German Stock Corporation 

Law (AktG) laid down target figures, also with a deadline up to 30.06.2021, for the 

two managerial levels beneath that of the Management Board. In this respect, a tar-

get figure of "zero" was defined for the first level beneath that of the Management 

Board. These reflect the status quo. 

 

This target figure already represents a major challenge due to the small size of the 

company with its stagnant employee numbers at present, which is resulting in the 

intensified utilization of individual members of the personnel for differing managerial 

functions across several levels of the hierarchy, as well as due to the current eco-

nomic situation at TELES. In the present situation, an increase in the proportion of 

women is unlikely up to 30.06.2021. Nevertheless, whenever it is filling vacant posi-

tions, TELES makes every effort to give appropriate consideration to women when 

the same professional qualifications occur. 

 

Corporate Governance 

 

The term corporate governance stands for management and control of companies 

aligned to responsible and long-term creation of added value. Efficient cooperation 

between the Management Board and the Supervisory Board, respect for the share-

holder interests, as well as openness and transparency in the corporate communica-

tions are essential aspects of good corporate governance. 

 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board of TELES AG consider themselves 

obliged to provide for the continued existence of the company and for the sustaina-

ble creation of added value by means of responsible corporate management and with 

a long-term focus. This corporate vision is based on the recommendations of the 

German Corporate Governance Code in its respective valid version. Following an ob-

ligatory review most recently in November 2017, the Management Board and Super-

visory Board issued the following compliance statement in accordance with Sec. 161 

German Stock Corporation Law (AktG): 
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Compliance Statement by the Management Board and the Supervisory 

Board of TELES AG Informationstechnologien as per Sec. 161 German 

Stock Corporation Law (AktG) with the German Corporate Governance 

Code in the Version dated 7 April 2017 

 

Pursuant to Sec 161 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), the Management Board 

and Supervisory Board of stock corporations listed on the stock exchange in Germany 

are required to issue an annual statement declaring that the recommendations of the 

"Government Commission German Corporate Governance Code" have been and are 

being complied with, or list the recommendations which were not complied with and 

disclose the reasons why not. This statement must be permanently accessible for the 

shareholders. 

 

The German Corporate Governance Code (the "code") contains regulations with dif-

fering binding force. In addition to presenting binding stock corporation law regula-

tions, it also contains recommendations from which companies can deviate; they are 

then obliged however to make full annual disclosures of said deviations. Further-

more, the code contains suggestions which may be deviated from without disclosure. 

 

The following statement refers to the code in its version dated 07.04.2017 (published 

on 24.04.2017). 

 

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of TELES AG hereby state that 

the recommendations of the "Government Commission German Corporate Govern-

ance Code" published by the German Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section 

of the electronic Federal Gazette have been complied with since the last compliance 

statement issued in November 2017 and will be complied with in the future, with the 

following exceptions. 
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1.  Code Section 3.8 (Management Board and Supervisory Board – D&O Insurance) 

 

The code recommends that when concluding directors' and officers' liability insurance 

(pecuniary damage liability insurance), to also agree to a deductible for the Supervi-

sory Board of the company corresponding to that based on the statutory regulation 

for Management Board deductibles. 

 

The D&O insurance concluded by TELES does not envisage a deductible for the Su-

pervisory Board. The nature of the Supervisory Board mandate, which is also clarified 

in the distinct structure of its remuneration, permits a differentiation between the 

Management Board and Supervisory Board with respect to the D&O insurance to 

seem reasonable and appropriate. Furthermore, agreement to a deductible is not 

considered as suitable for further enhancing the motivation and sense of responsibil-

ity of the Supervisory Board members who are already acting responsibly and in the 

interest of the company due to their function. 

 

2. Code Section 4.2.1 (Management Board – Responsibility for Divisions in Inter-

nal Rules of Procedure) 

 

In addition to Sec. 77 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), the German Corporate 

Governance Code recommends that the internal rules of procedure for the 

Management Board are to regulate especially the divisional responsibilities of the 

individual Management Board members. 

 

The definition of the divisional responsibilities in the internal rules of procedure for 

the Management Board members is not required, as the various divisional responsi-

bilities are stipulated directly in the individual service contracts of the various Man-

agement Board members. 
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3.  Code Section 4.2.3 (Management Board – Remuneration) 

 

In addition to Sec. 87 Para 1 German Stock Corporation Law (AktG), the German 

Corporate Governance Code recommends that in the event of the premature termi-

nation of Management Board activities, payments are to be limited in terms of the 

amount (severance payment cap), whereby the calculation of the severance payment 

cap shall be based on the complete remuneration in the financial year then ended 

and also on the probable complete remuneration in the current financial year as re-

quired.  

While a severance payment cap has been agreed in the Management Board service 

contract for Mr. Olbrich, its calculation occurs solely on the basis of the fixed salary.  

 

4.  Code Section 5.1.2 (Age Limit for Management Board Members, Diversity) 

 

The code recommends that the Supervisory Board shall define an age limit for mem-

bers of the Management Board. 

 

TELES has waived the defining of an age limit for the Management Board, as the ex-

pertise of experienced Management Board members shall fundamentally also be 

available to the company and exclusion from the Management Board and Supervisory 

Board solely on the basis of age does not seem to be proper and appropriate. 

 

5.  Code Section 5.3 (Supervisory Board, Forming Committees) 

 

The code recommends that the Supervisory Board shall form professionally qualified 

committees subject to the specific circumstances of the company and the number of 

its members. 

 

The Supervisory Board of TELES AG currently consists of three members and thus 

constitutes a minimum-sized body. Because the members as a whole also examine 

and analyze – in addition to their other duties – the individual committee topics re-

ferred to in the code, the formation of committees is not regarded as appropriate for 

enhancing the efficiency of the Supervisory Board's work and is therefore not envis-

aged. To that extent, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board is also acting in his po-

sition as chairperson when the Supervisory Board as a whole considers the monitor-

ing of the accounting processes, the effectiveness of the internal control system, the 
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risk management system and the internal audit system, as well as the audit of the 

annual financial statements and in particular the independence of the statutory audi-

tor and the services rendered additionally by same in this context. 

 

6.  Code Section 5.4.1 (Composition of the Supervisory Board, Age Limit, Diversity) 

 

The code recommends that the Supervisory Board sets concrete targets for its 

composition, while taking into consideration the specific corporate situation of the 

company's international activities, potential conflicts of interests, the number of 

independent Supervisory Board members in the meaning of No. 5.4.2., as well as an 

age limit to be defined for Supervisory Board members and a specified limit to be 

defined for the length of membership of the Supervisory Board, in addition to 

diversity. 

  

The Supervisory Board has not defined concrete targets for its composition to date 

and after consideration of the company's specific situation, it also does not intend to 

set these targets for the time being. Regarding the composition of the Supervisory 

Board and in the interests of the company, value is primarily placed on having the 

greatest possible professional competencies, together with international experience, 

before further criteria are then taken into consideration. 

 

Furthermore, the company has waived the defining of an age limit as well as a speci-

fied limit for the length of membership of the Supervisory Board, as also the exper-

tise of experienced Supervisory Board members shall fundamentally be available to 

the company and any exclusion solely on the basis of age does not seem to be prop-

er and appropriate.   

 

7.  Code Section 5.4.3 (Judicial appointment Supervisory Board member) 

The Code recommends that an application for judicial appointment of a Supervisory 

Board should be limited to the next Annual General Meeting. By application dated 

08.08.2017, the company has applied for the court appointment of two members of 

the Supervisory Board. A time limit was not applied for until the next Annual General 

Meeting because the company does not consider the restriction to be appropriate 

until the next Annual General Meeting. 
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8. Code Section 5.4.5 (Supervisory Board – Training and Advanced Educational 

Measures) 

 

Furthermore, the code recommends that the company shall support in an appropri-

ate manner the Supervisory Board members with training and advanced education 

measures required for the fulfillment of their duties. 

  

Fundamentally, the company supports the Supervisory Board members with appro-

priate training and advanced education measures in the context of the reimburse-

ment of expenses as per the articles of incorporation. As it is unclear which require-

ments have to be fulfilled in order that the support provided by the company in the 

context of this code recommendation is regarded as appropriate, by way of precau-

tion, a deviation from the recommendation is declared herewith.   

 

9.  Code Section 7.1.2 (Publication of Financial Reports) 

 

In line with the recommendation of the code, the consolidated financial statements 

shall be publicly accessible within 90 days after the end of the financial year, while 

interim reports shall be publicly accessible within 45 days after the end of the report-

ing period. Fundamentally, TELES AG publishes the consolidated financial statements 

and the interim reports – wherever possible – within these time limits. When re-

quired however, it reserves the right to avail of the statutory deadlines for the disclo-

sures. Deviating from the recommendations, the consolidated financial statements 

for the 2015 financial year were not published within 90 days. The 2016 interim re-

ports were published within the 45-day time limit as recommended. 

 

Berlin, April 23, 2018 

TELES AG Informationstechnologien 

 

 

Professor Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler  

Oliver Olbrich  

Thomas Haydn  
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 

in k€, excluding numbers of ordinary shares       

  Notes 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

ASSETS       

Non-current assets       

Property, plant and equipment 5 50 38 

Intangible assets 6 7 4 

    57 42 

Current assets       

Inventories 7 31 27 

Trade receivables 8, 16 793 1.450 

Receivables from taxes on income 21 22 1 

Other current assets 9 136 189 

Cash and cash equivalents 16, 24 164 254 

    1.146 1.921 

Total assets   1.203 1.963 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

Total Equity       

Ordinary shares (issued and in circulation: 23,304,676)   
23.305 23.305 

Capital reserve   11.568 11.568 

Revenue reserves   -45.091 -44.571 

Valuation of pension obligations   -289 -262 

Currency translation reserve   359 341 

  10 -10.148 -9.619 

Non-current liabilities       

Non-current provisions 15 805 823 

Other financial liabilities 11, 16, 26 4.750 3.923 

    5.555 4.746 

Current liabilities       

Trade payables 16 651 896 

      9 

Other provisions 15 147 66 

Accrued income 12 347 325 

Other financial liabilities 13, 16, 26 3.753 4.667 

Other current liabilities 14, 26 898 873 

    5.796 6.836 

Total liabilities   11.351 11.582 

Total equity and liabilities   1.203 1.963 
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account 

in k€, excluding numbers of ordinary shares   01 Jan - 31 Dec 

  Notes 2016 2017 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS       

Sales revenues 17, 27 6.511 7.062 

Production costs 17, 27 2.168 2.412 

Gross profit   4.342 4.650 

Sales and marketing expenses 27 1.299 1.344 

Research and development expenses 27 2.405 2.588 

Administration expenses 27 1.460 1.321 

Other income 18 278 685 

Other expenses 18 38 79 

Operating result/EBIT 27 -581 3 

Financial income 16, 19, 27 4.024 920 

Financial expenses 16, 19, 27 297 385 

Result before taxes on income 21, 27 3.146 538 

Taxes on income 21 13 17 

Net loss   3.133 521 

of which attributable to:       

Parent company shareholders 23 3.133 521 

Minority interests   0 0 

Result per share from continuing operations       

Undiluted   0,13 0,022 

Diluted   0,13 0,022 

Result per share from continuing operations 23     

Undiluted   0,13 0,022 

Diluted   0,13 0,022 

Number of underlying shares       

Undiluted   23.304.676 23.304.676 

Diluted   23.304.676 23.304.676 

        

Additional disclosure to the consolidated financial statements:     

EBITDA1       

1 Corresponds to Earnings (2016: -k€ 581; 2017: k€ 3) before depreciation (2016: k€ 53; 2017: k€ 32) 
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Consolidated Income Statement 

in k€   01 Jan - 31 Dec 

  Notes 2016 2017 

Net loss   3.133 521 
Other comprehensive income:       

Other income reclassified in current period affecting 
net income, net 

  
0 0 

Currency translation differences, foreign subsidiaries 
  -20 -18 

Other income to be reclassified in subsequent periods 
affecting net income, net 

  
-20 -18 

Actuarial losses from defined benefit pension plan obligations 

as per IAS 19 

15 -69 27 

Items not to be reclassified in subsequent periods af-

fecting net income, net 
  

-69 27 

Other comprehensive income after deduction of taxes   
-89 9 

Comprehensive income after deduction of taxes   
3.043 530 

of which attributable to:       

Parent company shareholders   3.043 530 

Minority interests   0 0 
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Development of Group Equity 

In k€, the number of ordinary shares: 23,304,676 
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December 31, 2015 23.305 11.568 -48.225 -220 379 -13.192 

Net loss for the financial year 0 0 
3.13

3 
0 0 

3.13
3 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 -69 -20 -89 

December 31, 2016 23.305 11.568 -45.092 -289 359 -10.149 

Net loss for the financial year 0 0 521 0 0 521 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 27 -18 9 

December 31, 2017 23.305 11.568 -44.571 -262 341 -9.619 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

(in k€) Notes 01 Jan - 31 Dec 

Cash flow from operating activities   2016 2017 

Net loss for the financial year   3.133 521 
Adjustment of the net loss for the financial year to 

the: 

      

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 5 51 29 
Depreciation of intangible assets 6 3 2 
Value impairment on inventories 3, 7 53 0 
Changes to the provisions, pension obligations an public sector 
grants 

3, 15 -28 -381 

Value adjustment on receivables 8, 16 43 -17 
Financial result 16, 19   0 
Subsequent evaluation of debtor warrant granted by Sigram 
Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbG 

  -4.022 -920 

Interest result   295 385 
Gain/Loss on purchase of property, plant and equipment   1 0 
Taxes on income 21 13 17 
Charges to other balance sheet items:       
Inventories 7 83 5 
Trade receivables 8, 16 -218 -683 
Other current assets, prepayments and accrued Current liabili-
ties 

9 28 -53 

Current liabilities 14 -771 196 
Provisions and other liabilities 14, 15, 19 104 -10 
Interest paid 16, 19 -4 -7 
Effects from exchange rate differences   -20 -18 

Taxes on income received 21 -3 14 

Cash flow from operating activities   -1.260 -920 

Cash flow from investing activities:       
Disposal of property, plant and equipment   0 0 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 5 -10 -18 
Acquision of intangible assets 6 0 0 
    0 354 

Cash flow from investing activities   -10 336 

Cash flow from financing activities:       
Loans from related parties 26 1.000 400 

Loan from Austrian sponsoring company for research promotion 
(FFG) 

  225 274 

Cash flow from financing activities   1.214 1.010 
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   -45 90 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   209 164 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  24 164 254 

Cash and cash equivalents contain: money market    60 60 
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Group Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement for the Fiscal 

Year 2017 

Note 1: General Information 

TELES Aktiengesellschaft Informationstechnologien (hereinafter referred to as 

"TELES AG") and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as "TELES" or the 

"Company") are active in the field of innovative telecommunication technologies 

and services: TELES is a high-performing supplier of equipment, solutions and 

services for fixed network and fixed-mobile convergence, as well as a Next 

Generation Network (NGN) service provider. 

 

TELES AG has its registered office in Berlin, Germany. The shares in TELES AG 

are listed in the Prime Standard stock exchange segment and are traded on all 

German stock exchanges. 

 

The majority shareholder in TELES AG is Sigram Schindler 

Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH with headquarters in Berlin. 

 

During the financial year, the Company employed an annual average of 58 em-

ployees (previous year: 59). The employees work in the areas of Sales and 

Marketing (10, in the previous year: 10), Research and Development (26, in 

previous year: 27), Procurement and Logistics (14, in previous year: 14) and 

Administration (8, in previous year: 8). 
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

2.1 Basic Information to be presented 

 

The Group Consolidated Financial Statement of TELES of 31 December 2017 

complies with Sec. 315aeHGB [German Commercial Code] in accordance with 

the provisions of the guidelines prepared by the International Accounting Stan-

dards Board (IASB), London applicable on the balance sheet date. On 31 De-

cember 2017, all of the IAS and IFRS mandatory in the EU as well as the inter-

pretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

(IFRS IC) were complied with. 

 

2.2 Business Continuity, Financing and Significant Uncertainties 

 

On the basis of the assessment of Management, the Company's continuation 

was seen as a given and the Group Consolidated Financial Statement was pre-

pared on the basis of the "going concern" assumption. In order to close any 

further gaps in financing, it was possible to obtain loan commitments totaling € 

0.25 million from related parties in March 2018. The Management Board con-

siders that the available and contractually secured financial resources are suffi-

cient to meet the anticipated financial requirements until at least mid-2019. 

 

The continued existence of the parent company and thus of the Group depends 

on the fact that the planned sales for the coming months are not unduly ex-

ceeded and the outstanding funds from the loan commitments amounting to € 

0.9 million are sufficient or are pushed up if necessary. 
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2.3 Principles of Consolidation 

 

a) Scope of Consolidation 

 

Remaining unchanged from the previous year, in addition to TELES AG as the 

parent Company, one domestic and six foreign subsidiaries are also included in 

the Group Consolidated Financial Statement prepared for the fiscal year 2017. 

 

There are no investments in associated companies. 

 

A list of subsidiaries included in the Group Consolidated Financial Statement can 

be found in Explanation 24. 

 

b) Consolidation Methods 

 

The Group Consolidated Financial Statement includes all companies for which 

TELES AG is directly or indirectly able to determine financial and commercial 

policies in such a way that the Group companies benefit from the activities of 

these companies. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with uniform accounting and valuation principles. The first time inclusion of 

companies in the Group Consolidated Financial Statement begins with effect 

from the day on which TELES AG takes control of the subsidiary. Amounts con-

cerning minority shareholders are reported separately. 

 

The consolidation of capital is based on the purchase method. The acquisition 

values of the shares are offset against the Group share of the fair value of the 

respective Company's equity. The acquired assets and liabilities, including those 

at the acquired Company not reported on the balance sheet, are hereby esti-

mated at the fair value on the date of acquisition. Moreover, non-controlling 

interests are reported in the balance sheet in the minority shareholders propor-

tion of the fair values. The positive difference between the acquisition price and 

the share of the net fair value is reported as goodwill and is reviewed at least 

once per year in regard to its impairment. 

 

Intra-group transactions are eliminated. Receivables and liabilities between the 

consolidated companies are offset against each other. Interim results are elimi-

nated and internal Group earnings are offset against the correspondent ex-

penses. 
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In the case of the sale of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities taken into 

account up until this point as well as goodwill attributed to a subsidiary are 

offset against the proceeds of the sale. 

 

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 

a) Tangible Assets 

 

Tangible assets are recorded on the balance sheet at acquisition cost less 

scheduled and if necessary unscheduled depreciation. Revaluations are not car-

ried out. Scheduled depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method 

over the following periods: 

 

Computer hardware:   3 years 

Office and business equipment:  5 years 

Installations at rented premises: 10 years or shorter remaining rental 

period 

Others:     10 years 

 

Maintenance and repair costs are recognized in profit or loss when incurred. 
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b) Intangible Assets 

 

Acquired intangible assets are capitalized, if it is probable that a future eco-

nomic benefit is connected with their use. These are recorded on the balance 

sheet at acquisition cost less scheduled and if necessary unscheduled deprecia-

tion. Scheduled depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over 

the following periods: 

 

Software:     3-5 years 

Others:     3-5 years 

 

c) Financial Instruments, Assets 

 

The financial instruments are categorized in accordance with IAS 39. Possible 

categories of financial instruments (assets) are: 

 Financial assets that are valued at fair value through profit or loss, 

whereby a distinction is made between those that are (i) initially classi-

fied as such and those that are (ii) classified as held for trading in accor-

dance with IAS 39; 

 Financial investments held until maturity; 

 Loans and receivables; 

 Financial instruments available-for-sale. 

 

Trade receivables and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and 

subsequently assessed at amortized acquisition costs using the effective inter-

est rate method. In order to take account of the general credit risk, the receiv-

ables are summarized in groups after their maturity date and then value ad-

justments are made on the basis of the age structure. However, if so required 

by the circumstances, appropriate individual value adjustments are made in 

individual cases. 

 

The acquisition and sale of financial assets is reported in the balance sheet on 

the date of fulfilment.  
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d) Inventories 

 

Inventories are shown at the average acquisition or manufacturing cost or the 

lower net realizable value. Insofar as obsolete inventories that are difficult to 

sell exist, value reductions are applied. 

 

e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a term to the acquisi-

tion date of 90 days or less as cash equivalents. 

 

f) Equity 

 

Decisive for the management of equity are the provisions of the German Com-

mercial Code (especially Sec. 272) and the German Stock Corporation Act (es-

pecially Sec. 71 et seq., Sec. 192 et seq.) for the separate financial statements 

of TELES AG as well as the regulations in accordance with IFRS for the equity of 

the TELES Group. The aforementioned laws or regulations are the only external 

restrictions to which the TELES equity is subject. In the past fiscal year, the 

Company met all external minimum capital requirements. 

 

The equity shown in the Group Consolidated Financial Statement corresponds 

to the management-controlled equity. 

 

g) Financial Instruments, Liabilities 

 

The financial instruments are categorized in accordance with IAS 39. Possible 

categories of financial instruments (liabilities) are: 

 Financial liabilities that are valued at fair value through profit or loss, 

whereby a distinction is made between those that are (i) initially classi-

fied as such and those that are (ii) classified as held for trading in accor-

dance with IAS 39; 

 Financial liabilities that are valued at the amortized acquisition costs. 

 

Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH waived loans granted to the 

Company in previous fiscal years. On 31 December 2016 and 

31 December 2017 respectively, the Company reported a financial liability in the 
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balance sheet that resulted from a debtor warrant agreement entered into in 

connection with the loan waiver. The initial evaluation of the liability was recog-

nized at fair value. The fair value was - in the absence of market-related values 

- determined using a discounted cash flow method. The update is carried out at 

amortized  cost.on the basis of estimated future cash flows. These arise as a 

continuation of the planning of the company. 

Trade liabilities are reported in the balance sheet by the Company at the amor-

tized acquisition costs. 

 

h) Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognized if a current legal or factual liability is created for the 

Company as a result of an event in the past, an outflow of resources to fulfil 

this obligation is probable and the amount of the obligation can be reliably es-

timated. 

 

i) Employee Benefits 

 

The Company reports benefits after the end of employment that are catego-

rized as defined benefit plans in accordance with IAS 19. The total actuarial 

profits and losses in the period are recognized in the other result in application 

of IAS 19. 

 

Payments for defined contribution plans are recognized as an expense in the 

profit and loss account, if they are due. 
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j) Deferred Tax Assets 

 

Tax liabilities are recognized on the basis of the so-called assets and liability 

method: Deferred income taxes are created for all significant temporary differ-

ences between the tax and accounting-related basis of assessment of the as-

sets and liabilities and tax loss carryforwards on the basis of the statutory tax 

rates. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation discount, insofar as it is 

likely on the basis of the known circumstances that a part or all of the total de-

ferred tax assets cannot be used. Deferred taxes are shown as long-term assets 

or liabilities. 

 

k) Impairment of Assets 

 

Assets are checked on each balance sheet date as to whether events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the book value is not to be realized and 

thus a value reduction is required. 

 

l) Research and Development Costs 

 

Research costs are recorded as expenses at the time they are incurred. Costs 

incurred in connection with the Company's own development of software for 

the sale of certain telecommunications devices are examined in regard to their 

capitalization as internally generated intangible assets. In addition to the gen-

eral requirements for the capitalization and initial assessment, the technical and 

commercial feasibility must be demonstrated for the approach and the allocated 

expenditure must be reliably measurable. Furthermore, it must be probable that 

the intangible asset value will lead to a future economic benefit, is unambigu-

ously identifiable and can be assigned to a specific product. If the research 

phase is not clearly distinguished from the development phase, the total costs 

are treated as research costs. 
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m) Leases 

 

Leases that the Company has entered into are classified as operating leases, 

insofar as the Company is not to be seen as a beneficial owner. The leasing 

rates are reported during the period in which they were generated in the in-

come statement. 

 

Leased items which are attributable to the Company as the beneficial owner are 

capitalized and depreciated over their normal useful life or the shorter duration 

of the leasing contract. Accordingly, the liability that arises from the lease is 

recognized under liabilities and reduced by the repayment portion of the paid 

lease rates. 

 

n) Translation of Foreign Currencies 

 

The currency of the primary economic environment in which the individual 

Group companies are active is seen as the "functional" currency. In the case of 

the TELES AG subsidiaries, this corresponds to the respective local currency of 

the Company. Accordingly, all assets and liabilities are valued at the current 

exchange rate on the balance sheet date. The translation of income and ex-

penses is carried out using the monthly average exchange rates for the year. 

Profits and losses from the translation of the financial statements of the Group 

companies are not included in the profit and loss account but in the other 

changes in equity. Profits and losses from foreign currency transactions are in-

cluded in the determination of the annual results. 

 

o) Principles of Sales Revenue Realization 

 

Products 

The Company realized revenues from product sales (software and licences) on 

the basis of a corresponding contract, as soon as the product has been deliv-

ered, the sales price is fixed or determinable and no significant commitments to 

customers exist, and the collection of the receivables is deemed probable. The 

Company makes provisions for all potential costs through product withdrawals, 

warranty services and other costs according to experience values. 
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Services 

Sales revenue from the provision of services are realized, if these have essen-

tially been provided in full and are chargeable. The Company provides both ser-

vices that are to be completed within a certain period as well as services that 

are provided over several periods. If the contractually agreed services extend 

beyond the balance sheet date and have already been invoiced but not deliv-

ered or rendered but not yet billed services are deferred. 

 

Transport and Shipping Costs That Are Passed On 

The Company shows shipping costs that are passed on in sales and the associ-

ated costs in the production costs. 

 

p) Production Costs 

 

In addition to the cost of direct materials and direct manufacturing expenses, 

the production costs for products sold as well as the impairment to inventories. 

 

q) Earnings per Ordinary Share 

 

The undiluted annual net income per ordinary share is calculated on the basis 

of the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation during the 

reporting period. Own shares reduce the number of ordinary shares in circula-

tion. The diluted net income per ordinary share is calculated on the basis of the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares and diluted common equivalent 

shares in circulation during the reporting period. 

 

r) Segment Reporting 

 

Internal management of the Company forms the basis for segment reporting 

(management approach). External segment reporting is on the basis of the in-

ternal organizational and management structure and the coordinated internal 

financial reporting to the highest governance body (Chief Operating Decision 

Maker). 
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s) Government Grants 

 

Government grants are recognized when there is reasonable assurance that the 

grants will be granted and the company will meet the related conditions. Ex-

pense-related grants are recognized as other operating income over the period 

over which the corresponding expenses that they are intended to compensate 

are recorded. Grants for an asset are recognized in income over the estimated 

useful life of the relevant asset. 

 

2.5 Important Discretionary Decisions, Estimates and Assumptions 

 

During preparation of the Group Consolidated Financial Statement, the Execu-

tive Board has to make estimates and assumptions in accordance with the gen-

erally accepted accounting principles that affect the reported amounts in the 

Group Consolidated Financial Statement and Notes. 

 

In previous financial years, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 

waived the loans granted to the company in the amount of EUR 15.0 million. 

For the accounting of this waiver, please refer to note 9.4. Capital reserve. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company recognizes a financial liability resulting 

from the debtor indemnity agreements that were made in connection with the 

loan waivers in fiscal years 2009, 2010 and most recently in 2011. The resur-

gence of the liability is linked to a positive result (EBITDA). If certain amounts 

are recovered, at least 30% of the contractually defined free cash flow must be 

used to repay them. The "free cash flow" results from the EBITDA less imputed 

income taxes (10%) and less all due payment obligations to third parties. The 

Company has the right to use a higher proportion of the "free cash flow" for 

repayment. Until full payment of the amounts paid, they will earn interest at 

12%. 

 

The initial valuation of the liability was made at fair value. The fair value was 

determined using a discounted cash flow method due to the lack of market-

related values. The change is carried out at amortized cost using the original 

and fixed effective interest rate and the expected cash flows (IAS 39-AG8) 

based on the current budget approved by the Supervisory Board. In doing so, 

the future estimated cash flows are projected on the basis of certain assump-

tions about the time until the repayment of the waived loans and the interest 
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has been fully repaid. Due to the valuation with the market-related discount 

rate of 12%, the book value essentially corresponds to the fair value of the lia-

bility. 

 

The revival and finally the payability of the amounts depend on certain opera-

tional conditions. The key assumptions on which the calculation of the amount 

payable is based therefore include assumptions regarding sales and earnings 

development. Based on the one-year budget planning of the company, the fu-

ture cash flows for the period until the theoretical repayment of the nominal 

value of the waived loans (EUR 15.0 million) and the related interest are esti-

mated. The valuation contains a high level of planning and forecasting uncer-

tainty, as it depends on the future development of TELES and the uncertainty 

increases due to the increasing shift of the estimated full repayment date into 

the future. These uncertainties are taken into account by a risk discount. The 

risk discount was not adjusted in the 2017 financial year. 

 

The main starting point is therefore the forecast for the sales and earnings de-

velopment of the coming financial year (see management report). Plan adjust-

ments in the coming financial year have a direct impact on the valuation of the 

debtor's compensation agreement in the following year. 

The result of the subsequent valuation as at 31 December 2017 results in an 

income of EUR 920 thousand. This reflects current budget planning, which 

means that lower payment flows are expected for the future compared to the 

previous year due to sustainably lower EBITDAs and the estimated full repay-

ment period (year 2177, year 2101) has significantly increased.  

 

The debtor warrant is valued at 31 December 2017 with a present value of 

TEUR 3,355. If sales were 5% higher or lower according to budget planning, 

the cash value would have been TEUR 1,610 higher or TEUR 1,672 lower. 

 

With regard to Management's assessment regarding business continuity and 

financing, please refer to point 2.2 in this Note. 

 

At present, a payment is expected from the debtor's agreement from 2022 at 

the earliest. 
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2.6 Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Which Became Mandatory 

for the First Time in the Past Fiscal Year 

 

TELES AG regularly takes all mandatory accounting standards from the relevant 

fiscal year into consideration in its Group Consolidated Financial Statement and 

implements them. 

 

With the exception of the presentation of the reconciliation in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements (see note 15.2.), The amendments to IAS 7 

had no significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

 

2.7 Standards, Interpretations and Amendments That Shall Become Manda-

tory in Future Reporting Periods (Published but not yet Mandatory Appli-

cable Standards) 

 

In its Group Consolidated Financial Statement for 2017, TELES AG did not take 

the following accounting standards issued by the IASB, which had already been 

adopted but were not yet mandatory for the fiscal year, into consideration. 
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Standards/Interpretationen 
Application 

obligation 1 

Adoption 

to EU law 

Foreseeable effects 

IFRS 9 Financial instruments 1. January 2018 yes No significant effects 

IFRS 15 Sales revenue from 

customer contracts 

1. January 2018 yes No impact anticipated . 

Refered to the following 

Notes 

IFRS 16 Leases 1. January2019 yes Effects are being analysed 

at the moment 

IFRS 9  Changes at IFRS 9 – 

Prepayment arrangements 

with negative 

compensation 

1. January 2019 yes No significant effects 

IFRS 15 Clearification to IFRS 15 – 

Revenues from customer 

contracts 

1. January 2018 yes No impact anticipated . 

Refered to the following 

Notes 

IFRS 2 Changes to IFRS 2 – 

Clarification of the 

classification and 

valuation of transactions 

with share-based payment 

1. January 2018 yes none 

IAS 40 Changes to IAS 40 – 

Transfers of investment 

property held as financial 

investment 

1. January 2018 yes none 

Serveral 

Standards 

Yearly amendments to the 

International Financial 

Reporting Standards,  

cycle 2014 bis 2016 

1. January 2017 

1. January 

2018 

yes immaterial 

IFRIC 22 Transactions in foreign 

currency and advance 

payments 

1. January 2018 no none 

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1. January 2021 no none 

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty regarding the 

income tax treatment 

1. January 2019 no immaterial 

IAS 28 Changes to IAS 28 – 

Langfristige Beteiligungen 

an assoziierten 

Unternehmen und Joint 

Ventures 

1. January 2019 no none 

Serveral 

Standards 

Yearly amendments to the 

International Financial 

Reporting Standards,  

cycle 2015 bis 2017 

1. January 2019 no immaterial 

IAS 19 Changes ton IAS 19 – 

Employee benefits 

1. January 2019 no immaterial 

 

1 
In the event of an outstanding takeover into EU law, the date of entry into force of the IASB will be taken into effect. 
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IFRS 15 – Sales Revenue from customer contracts 

 

As shown in the table above, the application of IFRS 15 will have no material 

impact on the consolidated financial statements of TELES AG. TELES generates 

sales, in particular from the sale of software licenses and service contracts. We 

are of the opinion that the sale of the software licenses is subject to a definable 

performance obligation, in particular since these are also used by our customers 

without the conclusion of a maintenance contract. The usability of the license is 

given with the transmission to the customer or the activation. Specific updates 

must be purchased separately by the customers. Unspecified updates can be 

acquired by the customer by concluding a Service Level Agreement (SLA). 

These are static software licenses. We still consider a time-related revenue rec-

ognition to be appropriate in the future. 

 

The licenses sold by TELES AG are completely independent in their functionality 

from the conclusion of a maintenance contract including any updates. It is en-

tirely up to the customer to decide if he wants to complete one. As a result, the 

SLAs represent a bundle of performance obligations that can be distinguished 

from the sale of software licenses and hardware. We have not identified any 

significant separately identifiable benefit obligations under IFRS 15 analysis. In 

the overall assessment, we therefore believe that it is appropriate to consider 

all performance obligations of the respective valid SLAs together and to con-

tinue to realize the respective sales in terms of time, over the term of the valid 

contract. 

 

IFRS 9 – Financial instruments 

 

The final version of IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" was released in July 2014 advertis-

ing purposes-published and replaced IAS 39 "Financial instruments: approach and 

valuation". IFRS 9 summarises the three project phases for the accounting of financial 

instruments "KLASSI-certification and valuation", "impairment" and "Accounting for 

hedging transactions". The new standard applies to fiscal years beginning on or after 1 

January 2018, an earlier application is allowed.  

 

In the past financial year, Teles made an assessment of the impact of IFRS 9 

and carried out an analysis of the three project phases of the new standard. No 

significant Quan-titativen effects are expected for the consolidated financial 
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statements. The disclosure requirements will expand as a result of the applica-

tion of IFRS 9.  

 

The Teles Group will apply IFRS 9 for the first time for the fiscal year beginning 

on 1 January 2018. The prior-year information is not adjusted. 

 

IFRS 16 – Leases 

 

IFRS 16 "Leases" was published in January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17 

"leases" as well as any inter-Pretationen relating to leasing accounting. The 

new standard lays down the principles for approach, evaluation, dashing and 

disclosure requirements regarding leasing conditions. In addition, IFRS 16 un-

dertakes to cover all leases according to a single model similar to accounting for 

finance leases under IAS 17. As a result of the implementation of IFRS 16, 

there will be essentially no changes to the lessor in the Bilan of the current IAS 

17. The new standard is to be applied for fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2019. A premature application is generally permissible, but only if 

IFRS 15 is also applied. Lessees can choose either a full or a modified retroac-

tive approach when applying the new standard for the first time.  

 

Teles is currently analyzing the impact of IFRS 16 on the consolidated financial 

statements. There are various operating leases in the group, which include 

rental areas and motor vehicles in particular. 

 

With the application of IFRS 16, Teles expects an increase in balance sheet to-

tal due to the approach of leasing liability and the activation of the right of use. 

This results in a reduction in the equity ratio. In addition, effects on the profit 

and loss account will result. Currently, operating lease expenses are recognised 

in the operating expenses in the profit and loss account. Due to the application 

of the new standard, amortization of the right of use and interest expenses for 

the leasing liability will be established in the income statement in the future. In 

addition, Teles expects a positive effect on cash flow from operating activities 

for the cash flows statement, since the redemption portion of Lea-sing pay-

ments under IFRS 16 is to be declared within the cash flow from the financing 

activity.  
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The Teles group will apply the new standard for the first fiscal year beginning 

on 1 January 2019. The first application is expected to be performed in a cover-

ing retrospective, so that the previous year's figures are not adjusted.  
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Note 3: Essential Components of the Operating Result 

  01 Jan - 31 Dec 

(in K€) 2016 2017 

Depreciation 54 32 

(included in production costs and operating expenses) 
    

of which: scheduled depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 

51 29 

of which: scheduled depreciation of intangible assets  3 2 

Inventories     

Inventory procurement and production costs recog-
nized as expenses 

317 518 

including: reversal of inventory write-down -53 -17 

(included in production costs)     

Value adjustments on trade receivables 43 -15 

(included in operating expenses, sales and marketing) 
    

of which: value adjustments 118 115 

of which: reversals of value adjustments -75 -130 

Personnel costs     

(included in production costs and operating expenses) 4.578 4.697 

including: employer's contribution to the statutory 
pension insurance 

335 326 

including: employer's contribution to the defined con-
tribution plan 

22 22 

including: severance payments 164   

Public sector grants      

(included in the research and development expenses)  0 81 

Investment grants from Österreichische Forschungs-
förderungsgesellschaft 

mbH (Austrian sponsoring company for research pro-

motion) 

225 274 
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Note 4: Tangible Assets 

The tangible assets developed as follows in the fiscal years 2016 and 2017: 

(in K€) 

Computer 
hardware 

Furniture 

and 

fixtures 

Leasehold 

improve-

ment 

Other Total 

Acquisiton costs           

            

31 December 2016 6.566 22 681 209 7.479 

Acquisitions 18 0 0 0 18 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 

31 December 2017 6.584 22 681 209 7.496 

            

Depreciation 
          

            

31 December 2016 6.536 13 681 198 7.428 

Acquisitions 23 3 0 4 30 

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 

31 December 2016 6.559 16 681 203 7.459 

            

Residual (Net) book values as of           

31 December 2016 30 9 0 11 50 

31 December 2017 25 6   7 38 
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Note 5: Intangible Assets 

The intangible assets developed as follows in 2016 and 2017: 

(in K€) Software Total 

Acquisiton costs     

      

31 December 2016 4.286 4.286 

Acquisitions 0 0 

31 December 2017 4.286 4.286 

      

Depreciation     

      

31 December 2016 4.282 4.282 

Acquisitions 2 2 

31 December 2017 4.284 4.284 

      

Residual (Net) book values as of     

31 December 2016 7 7 

31 December 2017 4 4 

 

All intangible assets have a limited period of use. 
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Note 6: Inventories 

The inventory assets are composed as follows: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Finished products 31 27 

Raw materials and supplies 0 0 

  31 27 

Including inventories which are:     

Reported at net realizable value 0 0 

Range > one year 1 1 

 

For the year 2017, a total k€ 17 of value increase was made. This results 

mainly from the sale of formerly written-off or written-down inventory in con-

nection with the discontinuation of the business unit Access Solutions. In the 

previous year, the marketability value increase was k€ 53.  

Note 7: Trade Receivables 

The trade receivables are as follows: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Trade receivables 2.927 2.009 

Minus value adjustments on receivables 2.134 559 

  793 1.450 

 

The trade receivables on 31 December 2017 include a long-term share in the 

amount of k€ 224 (31 December 2016: k€ 86).  
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Note 8: Other Current Assets 

The other current assets are comprised as follows: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Receivables from whole life insurance   65 

Prepayments 45 50 

Sales (VAT) tax claims -1 24 

Receivables from related parties 26 4 

Other 66 45 

  136 189 

Note 9: Equity 

The fully paid up share capital is composed of 23,304,676 no-par value shares 

with a calculated value of EUR 1.00 each. 

 

9.1 Authorized Capital 

 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on August 8, 2017, the Manage-

ment Board is authorized, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to re-

deem the share capital up to December 31, 2021, once or several times up to a 

total of EUR 11,652,338.00 against cash and / or non-cash contributions by is-

suing bis to increase 11,652,338 new no-par-value bearer shares (Authorized 

Capital 2017 / I). 

 

9.2 Conditional Capital 

 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 8 August 2017, authorized capi-

tal 2015 / I was  canceled. 

 

9.3 Own Shares 

 

The Company does not hold any of its own shares. 
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9.4 Capital Reserves 

 

The capital reserve includes premiums from the issue of shares less profit-

neutral allocation within the context of Company acquisitions previously re-

ported in the balance sheet under US GAAP according to the pooling of inter-

ests method. 

 

On 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively, the capital reserve still contained 

k€ 14,981, resulting from the repayment of a loan obligation due to a waiver by 

the shareholder Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, minus k€ 

11.626 resulting from a debtor warrant agreement with the shareholder in rela-

tion to the loan waiver. For more information, please refer to Explanation 15. 

 

9.5 Valuation of Pension Obligations 

 

Furthermore, the equity capital was increased by k€ 27 (on 31 December 

2015: k€ 69) for actuarial losses from defined pension benefit obligations ac-

cording to IAS 19. 

Note 10: Other Long-term Financial Liabilities  

The other long-term financial liabilities to related companies are as follows: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Debtor warranty agreement, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsge-

sellschaft mbH 
4.275 3.355 

Loan Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 250 0 

Loan Prof. Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler 0 70 

Loan Österreichische Forschungsförderungsgesellschaft mbH 

(Austrian sponsoring company for research promotion) 

225 498 

  4.750 3.923 

 

For more information, please refer to Note 15: Financial Instruments and Note 

22: Relationships to Related Companies and Persons. 
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Note 11: Accrued Income 

The amounts recorded under this item concern deferred sales revenue from the 

provision of services. 

(in K€) 2016 2017 

As of 1 January 416 347 

Accrued in the reporting period 3.772 3.321 

Recognised in the reporting period affecting net income 
3.841 3.342 

As of 31 December 347 325 

Note 12: Other Current Liabilities 

The other current liabilities are comprised as follows: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Personnel-related liabilities 402 493 

Advance received from customer 145 146 

Value added Tax liabilities 107 0  

Other 244 232 

  898 873 

 

The position of "personnel-related liabilities" includes essentially liabilities from 

the divisions accrued but not taken vacation, provisions for commission pay-

ments, provisions for variable pay and from payroll and church tax. 

Note 13: Other Financial Liabilities 

The other current liabilities are comprised as follows: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2016 

Liabilities with related parties 3.576 4.416 

Liabilities at record date 177 181 

  3.753 4.597 

 

Short-term loans were extended in March / April 2018 including accrued interest 

until 31 December 2019.  
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Regarding the relationships to related companies and persons, please refer to 

Note 22. 

 

The "liabilities at record date" position includes, inter alia, liabilities from the 

areas of rent as well as preparation and audit of the annual financial statement. 

Note 14: Provisions 

The Company recognizes the following provisions: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Non-current provisions     

Employee benefits in accordance with IAS 19 805 823 

  805 823 

      

Current provisions     

Other provisions 147 147 

  147 147 

 

The provisions are comprised as follows: 

      

(in K€) 31.12.2016 Utilized Released Allocated 31.12.2017 

Non-Current provisions           

Employee benefits 805 0 0 18 823 

  805   0 18 823 

            

Current provisions           

Government tax audit 32 0 0 22 32 

Litigation risks 54 0 0   54 

Warranties 15 16 0 15 15 

Other 46 0 0 1 46 

  147 16 0 38 147 

 

The outflow of assets is - with the exception of the above amount shown as 

long term - essentially expected within the next financial year. 
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14.1 Long-term Provisions - Employee Benefits 

 

The recognized long-term provisions for "Employee Benefits" concern defined 

benefit obligations in accordance with IAS 19. 

 

a) Severance Payment Claims 

 

Based on the legal requirements in Austria, employees of one of the TELES 

subsidiaries are entitled to so-called severance payments. Severance payments 

are due when an employee leaves the Company for certain defined reasons. 

The amount of the statutory severance payment claims depends on the time 

served; for employees who joined the Company after 1 January 2003, there is 

no severance payment obligation. 

 

b) Anniversary Payment 

 

In addition to this, TELES is obligated on the basis of a works agreement to 

make certain payments for the employees of one of its subsidiaries in the case 

of an anniversary (duration of service). 

 

The following tables show the components of expenditure on benefits recorded 

in the profit and loss account as well as the amounts recognized in the balance 

sheet: 

(in k€) Net present value of 

2016 
Servance 

claims 

Anniversary 

obligation 

Total 

1 January 542 141 682 

Expenses in the reporting period       

Current service cost 30 9 39 

Interest expense 12 3 15 

Actuarial loss 69 11 80 

Subtotal included in the costs 111 22 133 

Benefits paid 0 10 10 

Total as of 31 December 652 153 805 
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(in K€) 
Net present value of 

2017 
Servance 

claims 

Anniversary 
obligation Total 

1 January 652 153 805 

Expenses in the reporting period       

Current service cost 31 10 41 

Interest expense 11 3 14 

Actuarial loss -26 -11 -37 

Subtotal included in the costs 16 2 18 

Benefits paid 0     

Total as of 31 December 668 155 823 

 

The actuarial profit resulted entirely from changes to the financial assumptions. 

 

The projected unit credit method was used to determine the obligations. Salary 

increases to be expected in the future that influence the amount of the sever-

ance pay entitlement have been taken into account. The following premises 

were taken as the basis for determining the defined benefit obligation: 
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  2016 2017 

  (in %) (in %) 

Discount rate (actuarial interest rate):     

Severance claims 1,75 1,75 

Anniversary obligations 1,75 1,75 

Salary trend:     

Severance claims 3,0 3,0 

Anniversary obligations 3,0 3,0 

      

  2016 2017 

  (in years) (in years) 

Assumed retirement age (normal pensionable age):     

Severance claims     

Men 65 65 

Women 60 - 65 60 - 65 

Anniversary obligations     

Men 65 65 

Women 60 - 65 60 - 65 

Start of financing:     

Severance claims 
date of entry date of entry 

Anniversary obligations 
date of entry date of entry 

End of financing:     

Severance claims 

respective 
effective 

performance 
date 

respective 
effective 

performance 
date 

Anniversary obligations 

respective 
effective 

performance 
date 

respective 
effective 

performance 
date 

Fluctuation     

Severance claims non non 

Anniversary obligations non non 

 

The calculation basis for determining the severance pay entitlements and the 

anniversary payment obligation is AVO 2008-P (Association of Actuaries in Aus-

tria), accounting principles for pension insurance, Pagler&Pagler, employee - 

generations table. 
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A quantitative sensitivity analysis for the main assumptions was carried out as 

follows on 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017:  

Interest sensitivity 
current 

assumption 
Variation 1 Variation 2 

1.     Interest rate 1,75% 2,75% 0,75% 

2.     Salary trend 3,00% 3,00% 3,00% 

3.     Inflation 2,00% 2,00% 2,00% 

Obligation as of 31.12.2017 823 699 976 

Severance 668 564 796 

Percentage effect   -15,59% 19,25% 

Anniversary 155 136 179 

Percentage effect   -12,75% 15,40% 

Service costs 40 33 49 

Severance 30 25 37 

Percentage effect   -18,22% 22,90% 

Anniversary 10 9 12 

Percentage effect   -14,34% 17,79% 

Expenses in the 2017 income statement 55 53 56 

Severance 42 40 43 

Percentage effect   -4,04% 2,87% 

Anniversary 13 12 13 

Percentage effect   -3,47% 3,36% 

        

Sensitivity with regard to salary trend 
current 

assumption 
Variation 1 Variation 2 

1.     Interest rate 1,75% 1,75% 1,75% 

2.     Salary trend 3,00% 3,50% 2,50% 

3.     Inflation 2,00% 2,00% 2,00% 

Obligation as of 31.12.2017 823 894 756 

Severance 668 727 597 

Percentage effect   8,85% -8,39% 

Anniversary 155 167 142 

Percentage effect   7,66% -7,02% 

Service costs 40 44 36 

Severance 30 33 27 

Percentage effect   11,04% -9,91% 

Anniversary 10 11 9 

Percentage effect   8,77% -7,94% 

Expenses in the 2017 income statement 55 60 50 

Severance 42 46 38 

Percentage effect   10,43% -9,40% 

Anniversary 13 14 12 

Percentage effect   8,44% -7,66% 

 

The above sensitivity analyses were based on a method which takes the ex-

trapolated impact on defined benefit obligations into account and calculates the 

assumptions made at the end of the period covered by the report as a result of 

appropriate changes. 
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The following are the expected payments for defined benefit obligations in the 

coming years: 

(in K€) 2016 2017 

Within the next twelve months 12 (next  

reporting period) 

3 3 

Between 2 and 5 years 19 58 

Between 5 and 10 years 140 109 

Total expected payments 162 171 

 

14.2 Short-term Provisions 

 

The company is involved in legal proceedings and legal disputes arising in the 

ordinary course of business. The Company generally provides provisions for 

corresponding cases where a claim is probable and an amount can be estimat-

ed. 

 

Litigation Risks 

The evaluation of the litigation risk is based on the estimates of the Company. 

 

Warranty 

In principle, the Company agrees a warranty obligation of twelve months with 

its commercial customers upon sale of telecommunications products; in individ-

ual cases the statutory legal warranty period of two years applies. Estimated 

future warranty obligations for certain products are taken into consideration 

when the sales revenues are reported. These provisions are based on historical 

experience and the estimation of future claims. 
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Note 15: Financial Instruments 

15.1 The Importance of Financial Instruments 

 

The Company has financial instruments in the following categories: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

      

Financial assets     

Loans and receivables     

Trade receivables 793 793 

  793 793 

      

Financial liabilities     

Financial liabilities measured at amortized acquisition 
costs 

    

Other financial liabilities (non-current) 4.750 3.923 

Trade payables 651 896 

Other financial liabilities (current) 3.753 4.667 

  9.154 9.486 

 

The Company does not have financial instruments in other categories. 

 

a. Loans and Receivables 

 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Trade receivables 793 1.450 

  793 1.450 

 

b. Trade Receivables 

 

The trade receivables reported in the balance sheet on 31 December 2017 al-

most exclusively concern receivables from corporate customer business (con-

tracts are usually concluded with small and medium-sized enterprises). These 

receivables are generally assessed separately. The first indication of the exis-

tence of a value reduction is non-fulfilment of the contractually agreed payment 

terms. If there is a delay in payment, in a further step the reasons are evalu-
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ated and an assessment is made as to whether it is recoverable. Based on this, 

the trade receivables are individually adjusted. 

 

The value adjustment for trade receivables developed as follows: 

  01 Jan – 31 Dec 

(in K€) 2016 2017 

Trade receivables     

Value adjustments 118 99 

Reversals of value adjustments -75 -114 

  43 -15 

 

The value adjustment account for trade receivables developed as follows: 

(in K€) 31 December 

  
2016 Utilized Released Allocated 

Reclassi-

fication  
2017 

Value adjustments 
of trade receivalbes 

2.134 -16 -98 99 -1.559 560 

 

With regard to the creditworthiness of trade receivables that are neither in de-

fault nor impaired, please refer to the further explanations below regarding 

credit risk. 

 

The trade receivables reported on the balance sheet date include those for 

which a late payment exists but is not to be viewed as impaired: 

(in K€) Delay of payment 

  No pay-

ment 
delay, 

no im-

pair-
ment 

<= 3 
months 

> 3 and 

<= 6 

months 

> 6 

months 
and <= 1 

year 

> 1 year Total 

31 December 2016 674 96 15 8 0 793 

31 December 2017 953 234 213 50 0 1.450 

 

The fair value of the trade receivables corresponds to their book value. For 

more information, please refer to Note 7.  
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15.2 Financial liabilities that are measured at amortized acquisition costs 

 

(in T€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Sonstige finanzielle Verbindlichkeiten; langfristig     
Besserungsabrede Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH; langfristig 
4.275 3.355 

Darlehen Prof. Dr. - Ing. Sigram Schindler; langfristig 0 70 

Darlehen Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH; 

langfristig 
250 0 

Sonstige Darlehen; langfristig 225 498 

  4.750 3.923 

      

Sonstige finanzielle Verbindlichkeiten; kurzfristig     

Darlehen Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH; 

kurzfristig 
2.645 3.177 

Darlehen einer Familienangehörige einer Person in Schlüs-
selposition; kurzfristig 

771 1.198 

Verbindlichkeiten gegenüber nahe stehenden Personen, die 
nicht Gesellschafter sind (u.a. AR-Vergütungen)  

128 79 

Verbindlichkeit gegenüber einem nahestehenden Unterneh-

men  
32 32 

  3.576 4.486 

Rückstellungen für die Abschluss- und Prüfungskosten  147 151 

Rückstellungen für Miete und Betriebsnebenkosten  19 20 

Sonstiges  11 10 

  177 181 

      

  3.753 4.667 

      

Verbindlichkeiten aus Lieferungen und Leistungen; 
kurzfristig 

652 896 

      
  9.155 9.486 
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The financial liabilities have the following maturities: 

Financial year 2017 (in k€) payable 

daily  

up to 3 

months 

3 to 12 

months 

1 to 5 

years 

over 5 

years 
total 

Other financial liabilities 

(long-term) 

0 0 0 568 0 568 

liabilities from goods and 

service 

466 417 13 0 0 896 

Other financial liabilities 

(short-term) 

0 0 292 4.375 0 4.667 

 466 417 305 4.943 0 6.131 

  
     

  
Financial year 2016 (in k€) payable 

daily  

up to 3 

months 

3 to 12 

months 

1 to 5 

years 

over 5 

years 
total 

Other financial liabilities 

(long-term) 

0 0 250 225 0 475 

liabilities from goods and 

service 

398 223 30 0 0 651 

Other financial liabilities 

(short-term) 

0 0 337 3.416 0 3.753 

 398 223 617 3.641 0 4.879 

 

At the earliest from 2022 onwards, a payment is expected for the debtor war-

rant. 

 

Financial liabilities, the cash inflows and outflows of which are shown in the 

cash flow statement from financing activities, developed as follows in the 2017 

financial year: 

(in k€) 1.1.2017 Cashflow out 

financing 
activities 

Other 

changes 

reclassi-

fications 

31.12.2017 

Other financial liabilities 4.750 344 -921 -250 3.923 

Longterm financial 

obligations 

4.750 343 -920 -250 3.923 

Other financial liabilities 3.753 330 334 250 4.667 

Shortterm financial 
obligation 

3.753 330 334 250 4.667 

 
     

Total 8.503 674 -587 0 8.590 
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a) Trade Liabilities 

 

The liabilities recorded on the balance sheet date are mainly due within one 

month. 

 

Finacial income and expenditure for financial assets and liabilities that are not 

assessed at fair value through profit or loss: 

(in K€) 01 Jan – 31 Dec 

  2016 2017 

Interest income     

Loans, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 4.022 920 

Cash credit lines drawn down during the year 2   

  4.024 920 

      

Interest expenses     

Loans, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 269 282 

Loans, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 21 97 

Cash credit lines drawn down during the year 7 6 

  297 385 

 

15.3 Risks from Financial Instruments 

 

TELES uses a series of coordinated risk management and control systems; 

among other things, these are used to identify, measure and manage risks from 

financial instruments. Risk positions can essentially result in the form of credit 

and liquidity risk as well as market risks. 

 

a) Credit Risk 

 

The Company's default risks are restricted to a normal commercial risk, which is 

taken into account through the formation of provisions. In principle, the credit-

worthiness of new customers and often of existing customers too is checked on 

the basis of market information. Furthermore, advance payments are used inso-

far as this is possible and advisable. In addition to this, market-standard letters 

of credit or payment guarantee are agreed for foreign business - in particular in 

the case of non-European business. In individual cases - for example as de-

scribed below in connection with the sales partner - detailed assessments of the 

economic conditions are carried out. 
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In the fiscal year 2017, TELES achieved a share of sales of approx. 9% with the 

largest single customer. A total of approximately 9% of sales revenues were 

realized with the next two biggest customers. The additional revenue and the 

resulting trade receivables are broadly spread. In individual cases and to the 

extent this was shown for such risk exposures/obligations with a view to the 

amount as well as the payment targets and their permanent valuation, TELES 

carried out detailed assessments of the economic conditions on the basis of 

current actual figures as well as further information from the customers. 

 

The maximum default risk is derived from the book values of the receivables. 

 

The cash and cash equivalents are mainly invested with two renowned financial 

institutions. A risk of failure does not exist in this case. 

 

b) Liquidity Risk 

 

Group-wide financial control instruments are used for the purposes of monitor-

ing and control, especially weekly liquidity reports. 

 

The liquidity of the company remains tense. The financing of TELES will con-

tinue to be largely provided by related parties through the extension of previ-

ously granted loans and deferment of the interest thereon and by granting new 

loans. Please refer to the section Financing / Going Concern in the Group Man-

agement Report. 

c) Market Risks 
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1. Foreign currency risks 

Exchange rate fluctuations can cause undesirable and unpredictable earnings 

and cash flow volatility. The risk is reduced by the fact that business transac-

tions are settled in the functional currency insofar as possible. Future exchange 

rate changes can have an impact on prices for products and services and lead 

to changes in the profit margins. TELES currently reports foreign currency re-

ceivables in the amount of kUSD 139 (previous year: kUSD 108 and liabilities in 

the amount of kUSD 219 (previous year: kUSD 215). If the exchange rate on 

the reporting date changes upward (downward) by 10%, it has a reducing (in-

creasing) effect on the balance sheet value for receivables of k€ 10 (k€ 13). 

 

2. Interest Rate Risk 

The interest rate risk for TELES results solely from interest-bearing assets. The 

primary focus of the TELES investment strategy is liquidity issues, i.e. the re-

payment capacity of these investments. 

 

3. Price Risk 

TELES does not currently report any investments in listed shares in the balance 

sheet; to this extent the Company is not exposed to any price risk. 

  



 

Page 80 of 106 

Translation – the German version is authoritative 

   
 

 

  

 

© TELES AG Informationstechnologien 

Note 16: Composition of the Sales Revenues and Production Costs 

(in K€) 01 Jan – 31 Dec 

  2016 2017 

TELES Licences 1.723 2.674 
3rd Party 682 869 

Sales revenue 2.405 3.543 

Products 3.874 3.119 
Other 232 400 

Production costs 4.106 3.519 

      

Sales revenues 6.511 7.062 

3rd Party Material 317 518 

3rd Party SLA 299 375 
Other 232 265 

Material (3rd Party) 848 1.158 

      
Labor costs 963 954 

      

Other operating expenses 357 300 

      
Production costs 2.168 2.412 

Note 17: Other Income and Expenditure 

Other income for the fiscal year 2017 mainly includes expenditure grants from 

the Österreichische Forschungsförderungsgesellschaft mbH (Austrian sponsor-

ing company for research promotion) of k€ 274  as well as research ward form 

Austrian Government (k€ 80 ), income from whole life insurance (k€ 146) as 

well as currency translation gains of k€ 66. In 2016 the main Income was the 

expenditure grants from the Österreichische Forschungsförderungsgesellschaft 

mbH (Austrian sponsoring company for research promotion). 

 

Other expenses for the fiscal year 2017 included significant currency translation 

losses in the amount of k€ 79 (previous year: k€ 23). 
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Note 18: Financial Result and Other Income from Participations 

The following table shows the composition of financial income and expenditure 

as well as other income from participations: 

(in K€) 01 Jan – 31 Dec 

  2016 2017 

Financial income     

Interest, subsequent measurement of debtor warranty agree-
ment 

4.022 920 

Interest 2   

  4.024 920 

      

Financial expenses 
    

Interest on loans, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 
mbH 

269 282 

Interest on loans, related party 21 97 

Other 7 6 

  297 385 

Note 19: Income Taxes 

The result before income taxes is broken down as follows: 

  01. Jan – 31. Dec 

(in K€) 2016 2017 

Germany 3.105 -988 

Other countries 41 1.526 

Result before taxes on income 3.146 538 
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The income and expenses from income taxes include: 

  01. Jan – 31. Dec 

(in K€) 2016 2017 

Current taxes     

Germany 0 0 

Other countries 13 17 

  13 17 

      

Deferred taxes     

Germany 0 0 

Other countries 0 0 

  0 0 

      

Income tax expense: 13 17 

 

The overall tax burden for TELES is approximately 30.2% (income tax, including 

the solidarity surcharge 15.8%; trade tax 14.4%). 

 

The tax expense related to the discontinued business amounts to € 0,- with 

regard to the result from the discontinuation of the business unit and as well 

amounts to € 0,- with regard to the result from regular operation of such dis-

continued business (previous year: € 0,-). 
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The following table shows the main differences between the effective tax bur-

den of the Group and the expense under German tax law at an effective rate of 

approximately 30.2%: 

  01. Jan – 31. Dec 

(in K€) 2016 2017 

Result before taxes on income (continuing and discon-
tinued operations) 

3.146 538 

      

Income tax expense and/or income at statutory tax rate 949 162 

non taxable position 0 24 

Tax rate differences -7 -20 

Difference due to non-deductible items 195 363 

Non-recognized deferred tax assets   88 -235 

Receivable waiver -1.213 -277 

Tax items not related to the period -4 0  

Other items, net 5 0  

Effective income tax expense 13 17 

 

The tax effects of the temporary differences that cause deferred taxes are: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

      

Deferred tax assets:   
  

Losses carried forward 2 2 

      

Deferred tax assets, total 2 2 

Offset with deferred tax liabilities -2 -2 

Reported on the balance sheet 0 0 

      

Deferred tax liabilities   
  

Other 2 2 

      

Deferred tax liabilities, total 2 2 

Offset with deferred tax assets -2 -2 

Reported on the balance sheet 0 0 

      

deferred taxes, net 0 0 

 

Losses carried forward from active companies, for which reporting of the de-

ferred tax claim in the balance sheet was not applied because they cannot be 

realized, relate at k€ 74,993 (previous year: k€ 74,165 corporation tax and  
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k€ 80,638 (previous year: k€ 79,994) trade taxes in Germany and k€ 7,154 

(previous year: k€ 7,479) corporate taxes abroad. 

 

Furthermore, the reporting of a deferred tax claim for losses carried forward in 

the balance sheet in the case of companies that are not active in the amount of 

approx. EUR 10.4 million was omitted, as these are also considered to be unre-

alizable. 

Note 20: Earnings per Share 

The following table shows the calculation of undiluted and diluted earnings per 

ordinary share due to the shareholders of the parent company: 

  01 Jan – 31 Dec 

(in K€, except for share-related information) 2016 2017 

Annual result attributable to parent company shareholders 3.133 521 

Weighted average number of shares to calculate the result per 

share     

Undiluted 23.304.676 23.304.676 

Diluted 23.304.676 23.304.676 

Result per share     

Undiluted 0,13 0,02 

Diluted 0,13 0,02 

Note 21: Disposal Restrictions and Other Financial Commitments 

22.1 Disposal Restrictions 

 

The Company's liquid funds are subject to disposal restriction (rental collateral) 

on the balance sheet date in the amount of k€ 101 (previous year: k€ 148). 
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22.2 Rental and leasing obligations 

 

The Company leases buildings, vehicles, warehouses and certain office equip-

ment within the context of non-cancellable lease contracts without an option to 

buy. The lease contract for the office space was cancelled to 31 January 2018. 

The new office space on Ordensmeisterstraße has a fixed term until January 31, 

2023. The costs for operating leases amounted to T € 468 and T € 559 for the 

fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The offices are 

partly sublet to the majority shareholder. 

 

Future minimum payments within the context of the non-cancellable lease con-

tracts with initial maturities of one year or longer amounted to: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Up to one year 590 426 

Between one and five years 138 975 

  728 1.401 

 

22.3 Financial commitments from other contracts 

 

Future minimum payments due to legal agreements amount to: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Other Services 484 446 

Service engineering 8 8 

  492 454 

Note 22: Relationships to Related Companies and Persons 

The following significant transactions took place between the Group and related 

companies and people: 
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23.1 Controlling Company, companies under common control 

 

Loans granted by Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 

In previous fiscal years, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH waived 

loans granted to the Company with a nominal amount of 15 million Euros. 

On 31 December 2017, the Company recorded a financial liability in the balance 

sheet that resulted from the debtor warrant agreement in connection with the 

loans waived in the fiscal years 2009, 2010 and 2011. The initial assessment of 

the liability was recognized at fair value. The fair value was - in the absence of 

market-related values - determined using a discounted cash flow method. The 

update is carried out at amortized acquisition costs. 

 

The reinstatement of the liability is essentially linked to a positive result 

(EBITDA) as well as the availability of a defined free cash flow. From this 

amount 30% should always be used for repayment. In the case of reinstate-

ment of the debtor warrant agreement, 12 % interest shall be charged till its 

payment on the previously deferred amounts.  

 

Use of Loans 

In order to bridge financing gaps, a close family member of a person in a key 

position issued another loan offer in April 2017 of € 330,000. This amount was 

completely absorbed in 2017, the loan is part of balance sheet disclosure ‘Other 

financial liabilities’. 

Furthermore, in May, a loan agreement of € 750 thousand was received from a 

nearby person. This amount has been fully utilized in the financial year. This 

loan is included in the balance sheet "Other financial liabilities". Despite this a 

loan of € 670,000 from a related person was offered in May 2017, this amount 

was not absorbed in 2017. 

 

In addition, there are short-term loans between the company and the majority 

shareholder and other related parties, which are regularly extended for a fur-

ther year in the current and previous financial years on the due date. They are 

unsecured and earn between 10% and 12% interest. Their payment would be 

premature in case of premature recovery of the company. 

 

  

https://dict.leo.org/englisch-deutsch/nominal
https://dict.leo.org/englisch-deutsch/amount
https://dict.leo.org/englisch-deutsch/balance
https://dict.leo.org/englisch-deutsch/sheet
https://dict.leo.org/englisch-deutsch/disclosure
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Business Procurement Agreement 

Within the context of a business procurement agreement concluded with 

Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, TELES AG provides various ser-

vices for Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH with its affiliated com-

panies (TELES Patent Rights International GmbH, Berlin) as well as for the 

Sigram Schindler Stiftung. In 2017 the TELES AG has subleased Office space in 

Berlin to the SSBG. The leases amount including running costs k€ 265 (previous 

year: k€ 232) were recharged to the SSBG. 

On the balance sheet date, the Company reported receivables in the amount of 

k€ 1 (previous year: k€ 23) against Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH and its affiliated companies; the receivables were settled in the fiscal year 

2018. For more information, please refer to Note 8. 

 

23.2 Executive Board, Supervisory Board 

 

Remuneration of the Executive Board: 

(in K€) 01 January – 31 December 

  2016 2017 

  Fix Variabel Fix Variabel 

Oliver Olbrich 257 0 257 0 

Thomas Haydn 95 0 189 0 

  352 0 447 0 

 

Professor Dr.-Ing. Schindler received remuneration in the amount of k€ 37 

(previous year: k€ 39), which correspond to the cash-value benefits from the 

provision of a Company car. 
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Stock and subscription rights of the members of the Executive Board 

on 31 December 2017: 

  Subscription 

rights Shares 

Professor Dr. - Ing. Sigram Schindler (directly and indirectly) 
0 13.733.442 

  0 13.733.442 

 

Stock and subscription rights of the members of the Executive Board 

on 31 December 2016: 

  Subscription 
rights Shares 

Professor Dr. - Ing. Sigram Schindler (directly and indirectly) 
0 13.733.442 

  0 13.733.442 

 

On 31 December 2017, Prof. Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler directly and indirectly 

held unchanged 58.93 % of the shares in TELES AG: 57.41 % of the shares 

were held by Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, 1.46 % (previous 

year: 1.46%) of the shares by the Sigram Schindler Stiftung and the other 0.06 

% (previous year: 0.06%) were held directly by Prof. Dr. -Ing. Sigram 

Schindler. 

 

Supervisory Board Remuneration: 

The expenses of the members of the Supervisory Board in the past financial 

year amounted to k€ 75.0 (previous year: k€ 75.0). 

(in K€) 01 Jan – 31 Dec 

  2016 2017 

Prof. Dr. Walter Rust 38 37,5 

Prof. Dr. h.c. Radu Popescu-Zeletin 23 20,0 

Joachim Schwarzer 3 17,4 

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dr.-Oec. Thomas Schildhauer 11 0 

  75 75 
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Liabilities of the Company to related companies and persons: 

(in K€) 01 Jan – 31 Dec 

  2016 2016 

Debtor warranty agreement, Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsge- 
sellschaft mbH; non-current 

4.275 3.355 

Loan Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH; current 
2.645 3.177 

Loan of a dependant from a person in a key position; current  
771 1.198 

Loan Prof. Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler; non-current 0 70 

Loan Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH; non- 
current 

250 0 

  7.941 7.800 

Liability Supervisory Board  128 79 

Liability Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 
9 32 

  8.078 7.911 

 

Interest expenses on Loan from related parties: 

(in T€) 01 Jan – 31 Dec 

  2016 2017 

Interest expenses of Loan Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesell 
schaft mbH 

269 281 

Interest expenses of Loan dependant from a person in a key  
position 

21 97 

  291 379 

Note 23: Segment Reporting 

Since financial year 2015, TELES has only been active in the core solutions 

business segment. Core Solutions is the only business unit and thus corre-

sponds to the entire company. 

 

Information on geographical areas 
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The sales revenues according to the Company's sales markets are as follows: 

(in K€) 01 Jan – 31 Dec Changes 

  2016 2017   

DACH* 2.691 2.862 172 

thereof Germany 1.546 1.653 107 

thereof Austria 616 848 232 

Europe (other countries) 2.002 2.301 299 

thereof Italy 498 655 157 

Middle East 1.496 1.515 19 

Other 322 383 61 

  6.511 7.062 551 

 

Sales revenues are allocated according to the customer's country of origin. 

 

Long-term assets 

 

The long-term assets are allocated as follows across the regions: 

(in K€) 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 

Germany 40 29 

EMEA 17 12 

  57 42 

 

The allocation of long-term assets is carried out according to with the registered 

office of the respective Group Company. 
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Note 24: Other Information 

25.1 Events after the balance sheet date 

 

In March 2018, another borrowing measure was implemented. On 23 March 

2018, a loan commitment in the amount of k€ 250 was concluded with a key 

person. The unsecured loan bears interest at 10% and is due for repayment on 

31 December 2019. In addition, loans to related parties were suspended until 

March 31, 2019 in March / April 2018. 

 

There are no other special transactions after the end of the financial year. 

 

25.2 Services of the auditing Company 

 

The fee for Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft for the 2017 

financial year amounts to k€ 110 (including travel expenses and expenses) and 

k€ 19 for other services. 

 

25.3 Consolidated companies 

 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statement of TELES 

AG and those of the following companies, which are all wholly-owned subsidiar-

ies of TELES AG, if not otherwise stated: 

Subsidiary Location 

TELES Communications Corp. Hillsborough, USA 

TELES France S.A.R.L.  Courbevoie, France 

TELES S.R.L.  Milan, Italy 

TELES N.G.N. Solutions Ltd. Yokneam, Israel 

TELES Communication Systems GmbH Vienna, Austria 

TELES NetSales Spain S.A. Madrid, Spain 
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25.4 Corporate Governance Code 

 

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of TELES AG have submitted a 

declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code (Sec. 

161 AktG [German Stock Corporation Act]), which was announced on the TELES 

AG website in November 2017 (www.teles.de). 

 

25.5 Executive Board 

 

During the past year, the following persons were on the Company's Executive 

Board: 

 Prof. Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler, Co-chairman of the Executive Board; 

 Oliver Olbrich, Co-chairman of the Executive Board; 

 Thomas Haydn, chairman. 

 

The members of the Executive Board assumed the following Group-internal Su-

pervisory Board mandates or mandates on comparable supervisory committees: 

 

 Prof. Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler  TELES Communications Corp. 

 

  

http://www.teles.de/
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25.6 Supervisory Board 

 

During the past year, the following persons were on the Company's Supervisory 

Board: 

 

Professor Walter Rust, lawyer and notary, Berlin 

(Chairman of the Supervisory Board); 

Joachim Schwarzer, Economics graduate, Berlin (since 27 October 2016). 

 (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board); 

Prof. Dr. h.c. Radu Popescu-Zeletin, University Professor, Berlin  

 

The following members of the Supervisory Board assumed Supervisory Board 

mandates or mandates on comparable supervisory committees: 

 

Prof. Dr. Walter Rust, 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of SHF Communication Technologies AG, 

Berlin 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Fiagon AG, Hennigsdorf 

Member of the Supervisory Council of Charité Research Organisation GmbH, 

Berlin 

Member of the Supervisory Board of provitro AG, Berlin 

 

Prof. Dr. h.c. Radu Popescu-Zeletin, 

Member of the Administrative Council of Open Limit Holding AG 

 

Berlin, April 23, 2018 

 

TELES Aktiengesellschaft Information Technologies 

Board of Directors 

 

 

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Sigram Schindler 

Oliver Olbrich 

Thomas Haydn 
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List of Abbreviations 

 

AG Aktiengesellschaft - Stock Corporation 

AktG Aktiengesetz - German Stock Corporation Act 

APAC Asia-Pacific 

DRS Deutscher Rechnungslegungsstandard - German 

Accounting Standard 

DRSC Deutsche Rechnungslegungsstandards Committee - Ger-

man Accounting Standards Committee 

  

EMEA Europe, Middle East, Africa 

ESOP Employee´s Share Option Programme 

EStG Einkommensteuergesetz - Income Tax Act 

FIFO First-in, First-out 

GmbH Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung - Limited liability 

Company 

HGB Handelsgesetzbuch - German Commercial Code 

IAS International Accounting Standards 

IASB International Accounting Standards Board 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard 

k€ Thousands of euros 

kUSD Thousands of US dollars 

LATAM Latin America 

Ltd Limited 

NORAM North America 

SIC Standing Interpretations Committee 

SPSS Sales & Post Sales Services 

SSBG Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin 
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Responsibility Statement 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting 

principles for financial reporting, the consolidated financial statements give a 

true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of 

the Group, and the management report of the Group includes a fair review of 

the development and performance of the business and the position of the 

Group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks 

associated with the expected development of the Group. 

 

Berlin, April 23, 2018 

 

Management Board of  

TELES Aktiengesellschaft Informationstechnologien 
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27.01.2017 

Audit opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by TELES 

Aktiengesellschaft Informationstechnologien and its subsidiaries (the Group) - con-

sisting of the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated cash flow statement and the 

consolidated statement of changes in equity for the financial year from January 1 to 

December 31, 2017 and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 

a summary of significant accounting policies - audited. In addition, we reviewed the 

report on the status of the TELES Aktiengesellschaft Informationstechnologien com-

pany and group for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2017. We have 

not reviewed the content of the corporate governance statement contained in the 

Corporate Governance Statement of the Company and Group Report in accordance 

with German law. 

 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit 

 

• the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply in all material re-

spects with IFRS, as they are to be applied in the EU, and with the supplemen-

tary provisions of German law pursuant to section 315e, paragraph 1 of the 

German Commercial Code (HGB) and convey a true and fair view in compliance 

with these regulations the net assets and financial position of the Group as at 31 

December 2017 and its results of operations for the financial year from 1 January 

to 31 December 2017 and 

• the accompanying report on the situation of the Company and the Group as a 

whole gives a true picture of the situation of the Group. In all material respects, 

this report on the position of the Company and the Group is consistent with the 

Consolidated Financial Statements, complies with German legal requirements and 

represents the opportunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the 

report on the position of the Company and the Group does not extend to the con-

tent of the above statement of corporate governance. 
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27.01.2017 

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) Sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to 

any objections to the regularity of the consolidated financial statements and the re-

port on the position of the Company and the Group. 

Basis fort he judgements 

We have reviewed our review of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Re-

port on the Position of the Company and the Group in accordance with Section 317 

HGB and the EU Auditors Ordinance (No 537/2014, hereinafter referred to as "EU 

APRVO") in accordance with the requirements of the Institute der Wirtschaftsprüfer 

(IDW) has been audited in accordance with German generally accepted standards for 

the audit of financial statements. Our responsibilities under these rules and policies 

are further described in the section "Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the 

consolidated financial statements and the report on the status of the Company and 

the Group" of our opinion. We are independent of the group companies in accord-

ance with the European and German commercial and professional regulations and we 

have fulfilled our other German professional obligations in accordance with these 

requirements. In addition, in accordance with Article 10 (2) (f) EU-APrVO, we declare 

that we have not performed any prohibited non-audit services under Article 5 (1) EU 

APrVO. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appro-

priate to serve as the basis for our opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

and the report on the status of the Company and the Group. 

Significant uncertainty in connection with the continuation of the company's activities 

Please refer to the statements of the Management Board in the sections "Economic 

Situation / Liquidity and Assets" and "Financing / Going Concern" of the report on the 

situation of the Company and the Group. There it is stated that the liquidity of the 

company remains tight and the company has received loan commitments totaling 

EUR 0.9m to maintain solvency. The continued existence of the parent company and 

thus of the Group depends on the fact that the planned sales targets are not sus-

tainably undercut and that the outstanding funds from the loan commitments in the 

amount of EUR 0.9m are sufficient or, if necessary, increased. This refers to the ex-

istence of material uncertainty that may raise significant doubts about the Company's 
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ability to continue as a going concern and constitutes a going-concern risk in the 

sense of section 322 (2) sentence 3 HGB 

Our opinion is not modified with regard to this matter. 

Particularly important audit matters in the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments  

Particularly important audit matters are those matters that, in our best judgment, 

were most significant in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2017. These issues have been taken 

into account in the context of our audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements as a 

whole and in our opinion on the audit; we do not make a separate opinion on these 

matters. 

In addition to the facts described in the section "Significant Uncertainties related to 

Business Continuity", we have identified the facts described below as a key audit 

matter to be reported in our audit opinion. 
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Valuation of the financial liability from the debtor warrant with Sigram 

Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 

Reasons for the provision as a particularly important audit matter 

The TELES Group recognizes the obligation in connection with the write-offs of the 

Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH (SSBG) as a financial liability in ac-

cordance with IAS 39.AG8. The resurgence of liability is linked to positive EBITDA. If 

certain amounts are recovered, at least 30% of the contractually defined free cash 

flow must be used to repay them. The "free cash flow" here results from the EBITDA 

less expected imputed income taxes (10%) and less all due payment obligations to 

third parties. The Company has the right to use a higher proportion of the "free cash 

flow" for repayment. The liability is measured at amortized cost using a discounted 

cash flow method, using the original and fixed effective interest rate and the ex-

pected cash flows. The valuation is therefore subject to a high degree of planning 

and forecasting uncertainty as it is dependent on the future development of TELES 

and the uncertainty increases as the estimated full repayment date for the future 

increases. These uncertainties are taken into account by a risk discount. Estimates of 

cash flows and the likelihood of a resurgence of liability therefore give considerable 

discretion. Gains and losses arising from adjustments to the carrying amount of the 

financial liability are recognized in profit or loss. 

Due to the materiality of the debtor warrant for the consolidated financial statements 

and the discretionary nature of central assumptions for the determination of cash 

flows and the likelihood of a resurgence, we consider the valuation of the financial 

liability from the debtor warrant to be a particularly important audit matter. 
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Audit procedure 

Our audit procedures included assessing the appropriateness of the valuation model 

used and the consistency of model assumptions with the Group's financial planning. 

Our audit procedures also include an analysis of the reasonableness of the assump-

tions used in the assessment of the recovery warrant, including expected cash flows 

during the detailed planning period. In addition, we discussed all key assumptions, in 

particular with regard to revenue and earnings development and the risk discount 

used, with the management. The reliability of the planning was checked by means of 

a retrospective assessment of the correctness of the projections of the group. We 

also understood the appropriateness of the disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Our audit procedures did not give rise to any objections to the valuation of the finan-

cial liability from the debtor warrant with Sigram Schindler Beteiligungsgesellschaft 

mbH. 

Reference to related information  

With regard to the accounting and valuation methods used for the subsequent valua-

tion of the debtor warrant, we refer to the information provided by the company in 

the notes to the consolidated financial statements in note 2.5. 
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Other Information 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for the report of the Supervisory Board, and the 

Supervisory Board and the Executive Board for the declaration contained in the Cor-

porate Governance Declaration pursuant to Section 161 AktG. Incidentally, the legal 

representatives are responsible for the other information. Other information includes 

the "Corporate Governance Statement" contained in the Company and Group Report, 

as well as the other components of the "Consolidated Financial Statements and 

Combined Management Report", except for the audited consolidated financial state-

ments and management report and ours Audit opinion in particular: 

• in the section "Insurance of the legal representatives" the insurance of the legal 

representatives according to § 297 Abs. 2 Satz 4 HGB and § 315 Abs. 1 Satz 5 

HGB as well as 

• in the section "Report of the Supervisory Board for the financial year from Janu-

ary 1 to December 31, 2017" the report of the Supervisory Board. 

We have received a copy of this other information pending the issuance of this audit 

opinion. 

Our audit opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Management 

Report do not extend to the other information and, accordingly, we provide neither 

an audit opinion nor any other form of audit conclusion. 

In connection with our audit, we have the responsibility to read the other information 

and to assess whether the other information 

• have material inconsistencies with the consolidated financial statements, man-

agement report or our knowledge acquired during the audit, or 

• otherwise appear significantly misrepresented. 

If, on the basis of our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 

this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 

in this context. 
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Responsibility of the legal representatives and the Supervisory Board for the consoli-
dated financial statements and the report on the situation of the Company and the 
Group 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated fi-

nancial statements, which comply with the IFRS, as applicable in the EU, and the 

German statutory provisions to be applied in addition to § 315e (1) HGB in all mate-

rial respects, and that the In accordance with these regulations, the consolidated 

financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and 

results of operations of the Group. In addition, the legal representatives are respon-

sible for the internal controls that they have determined to be necessary to enable 

the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material mis-

statement, whether intentional or unintentional. 

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal representatives are 

responsible for assessing the ability of the parent company and thus of the group to 

continue its business activities. They also have the responsibility to disclose matters 

related to the continuation of the business, where relevant. In addition, they are re-

sponsible for accounting for continuing operations on the basis of the accounting 

principle, unless contrary to fact or law. 

In addition, the legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the report 

on the situation of the Company and the Group, which as a whole conveys a true 

picture of the Group's position and in all material respects is consistent with the con-

solidated financial statements Complies with regulations and correctly presents the 

opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the legal representatives 

are responsible for the arrangements and measures they deem necessary to enable 

the preparation of a report on the situation of the Company and the Group in ac-

cordance with German law and sufficient adequate evidence for to be able to provide 

the statements in the report on the situation of the company and the group. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's accounting process 

for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the report on the 

situation of the Company and the Group. 
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Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and the report on the situation of the company and the group 

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated fi-

nancial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether inten-

tional or unintentional, and whether the report on the Company and the Group as a 

whole is an accurate representation of the Group's position conveyed and in all mate-

rial respects consistent with the consolidated financial statements and with the find-

ings of the audit, in accordance with the German statutory provisions and the oppor-

tunities and risks of future development is true, and to issue an auditor's report, the 

our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the management 

report on the Company and the Group. 

Sufficient security is a high degree of security, but no guarantee that a test carried 

out in accordance with § 317 HGB and EU-APrVO in compliance with the German 

generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by 

the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) constitutes a material misstatement always 

revealing. Misstatements can result from breaches or inaccuracies and are consid-

ered material if they could reasonably be expected to influence, individually or collec-

tively, the economic decisions of addressees made on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements and the consolidated financial statements. 

During the audit, we exercise due discretion and maintain a critical attitude. In addi-

tion 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement, whether intentional or un-

intentional, in the consolidated financial statements and in the report on the 

Company and the Group, plan and perform audit procedures in response to such 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is adequate and appropriate to Basis for our 

audit judgments. The risk that material misrepresentations will not be detected is 

higher for violations than for inaccuracies, as violations may include fraudulent in-

teractions, counterfeiting, intentional incompleteness, misrepresentations or over-

riding internal controls; 

• we gain an understanding of the internal control system relevant for the audit of 

the consolidated financial statements and the arrangements and measures rele-
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vant to the review of the report on the position of the company and the group to 

plan audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not with the 

objective of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of these; 

• we assess the appropriateness of the accounting policies used by the legal repre-

sentatives and the reasonableness of the estimates and related information pro-

vided by the legal representatives; 

• we draw conclusions about the appropriateness of the accounting policy used by 

the legal representatives in continuing operations and, on the basis of the audit 

evidence obtained, whether there is material uncertainty surrounding events or 

circumstances, significant doubts about the parent company's ability and thus of 

the group to continue the business. If we conclude that there is material uncer-

tainty, we are required to draw attention to the related disclosures in the Consoli-

dated Financial Statements and the Combined Management Report and, if these 

disclosures are inadequate, our respective audit opinion to modify. We draw our 

conclusions on the basis of the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

opinion. However, future events or circumstances may lead to the parent compa-

ny and thus the Group being unable to continue its business activities; 

• we assess the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated fi-

nancial statements including the disclosures and whether the consolidated finan-

cial statements represent the underlying transactions and events such that the 

consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopt-

ed by the EU and supplemented by 315e (1) HGB provides a true and fair view of 

the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group; 

• we obtain sufficient and adequate audit evidence for the accounting information 

of the companies or business activities within the Group in order to deliver audit 

opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the report on the situation 

of the Company and the Group. We are responsible for the guidance, supervision 

and execution of the consolidated financial statements audit. We are solely 

responsible for our audit; 
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• we assess the consistency of the report on the position of the company and the 

Group with the consolidated financial statements, its legal representation and the 

picture of the position of the Group that it conveys; 

• We conduct audits of the forward-looking statements presented by the legal rep-

resentatives in the report on the situation of the Company and the Group. On the 

basis of sufficient and appropriate audit evidence, we particularly carry out the 

significant assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements of the legal 

representatives and assess the proper derivation of the forward-looking state-

ments from these assumptions. We do not give an independent opinion on the 

forward-looking information and on the underlying assumptions. There is a signif-

icant unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the forward-

looking statements. 

Among other things, we discuss with the supervisors the planned scope and timing 

of the audit, as well as significant audit findings, including any deficiencies in the in-

ternal control system that we identify during our audit. 

We make a statement to the supervisors that we have complied with the relevant 

independence requirements and discuss with them all relationships and other mat-

ters that can reasonably be expected to affect our independence, and the protective 

measures taken. 

From the issues we discussed with those responsible for monitoring, we identify 

those issues that were most significant in the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements for the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We de-

scribe these facts in the auditor's report, unless laws or other legal provisions ex-

clude the public disclosure of the facts. 

Other legal and other legal requirements 

other information according to Article 10 EU-APrVO 

We were elected by the Annual General Meeting on August 8, 2017 as the auditors of 

the consolidated financial statements. We were commissioned by the Supervisory 

Board on 17 November 2017. Since the 2012 financial year, we have been working 
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continuously as auditors of the consolidated financial statements of TELES 

Aktiengesellschaft Informationstechnologien.  

We declare that the judgments contained in this Auditor's Report are consistent with 

the additional report to the Audit Committee pursuant to Article 11 EU-APrVO (audit 

report). 

We did not provide services that were not disclosed in the consolidated financial 

statements or in the report on the situation of the Company and the Group.  

Resposible auditor 

The auditor responsible for the audit is Eckehard Schepers. 

Berlin, April 23, 2018 

 

Ernst & Young GmbH 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 

 

Schepers Klemm 

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer 

[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor] 

 


